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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE
MARKET (“GEM") OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of
GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of
the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of China Bio-Med Regeneration
Technology Limited collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to China Bio-Med Regeneration
Technology Limited. The directors of China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology
Limited, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
T EHRE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Director(s)”) of
China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to present our annual
report for the year ended 30 April 2011.

Throughout the year, the Group has devoted to the research and
development of clinical projects as well as the more stringent management
on the construction progress of new plant. Due to the innovative and unique
nature in the process design and the required equipments of the new plant
in Shaanxi, the new plant had been constructed on a “designing while
constructing” basis. As no precedent cases were available both at home and
abroad for reference, it caused certain delays in the operation schedule of the
plant. Currently, Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue Engineering Company Limited, the
Group's subsidiary, has overcome various technical difficulties. All equipments
of the plant have already been in place and the related technicians have
started to debug such equipments and conducted professional training. It is
expected that the trial operation of the new plant will be carried out in near
future.

Producing human organs and tissues has always been a hope of human
and, under the evolving medical and scientific development, it is no longer
a dream. It is proved that tissue engineering has already become a high-
tech industry with huge potential in the 21st century and it also recorded
a significant development. The Group will continue to develop tissue
engineering as its goal, in the hope of bringing investment returns to all
shareholders as well as improving people’s health, so as to turn a new page of
the bio-medical industry and make contributions to the society.

Meanwhile, | hereby take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude
to all fellow directors for their ongoing support and efforts to the Group. In
addition, I, on behalf of all Directors, would also like to thank the officers
and all staff for serving the Group, and hope that they will continue their
wholehearted dedication and diligence to achieve better financial performance
for our Group.

Gao Gunter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 July 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR B R wm MO

For the year ended 30 April 2011, the revenue of the Group was
approximately HK$2,621,000, representing a decrease of 76%, compared
to that of the last year (2010: approximately HK$11,039,000). The Group
has recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company approximately
HK$42,061,000 (2010: approximately HK$64,569,000), which is mainly due
to the tissue engineering product “ActivSkin” was produced in small batch
and the revenue generated was not much when comparing to the operation
expenses.

OPERATIONS REVIEW

Given that the tissue engineering is the most potential high-tech industry
in 21st century, the Company contributed capital of RMB87.5 million to
Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue Engineering Company Limited (hereinafter referred
to as “Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue”) in September 2010, and currently FD(H)
Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, held 87.68%
shareholding and all the business of Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue.

The capital contributions have been fully in place and will be used for
infrastructure construction and equipment purchase of the new plant of
Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue and clinical research of the Company’s products, as
well as enhancing the development capacity of Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue. The
new plant of Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue possesses pioneered and pro-active
features in term of process design, and there is no precedent both at home
and abroad. We have always been applying the method of “designing while
constructing” during the construction process and thus repeated changes
in design have adversely affected the production efficiency. Some of the
equipments required for the plant were pioneered and unique, and therefore,
delays occurred in the manufacturing process. Furthermore, we are required
to conduct unified testing on the main general equipments of the plant after
the installation, however, the delivery times of these equipments varied and
we can only conduct the relevant testing after the delivery and installation
of all equipments. Currently, in response to the industrialization of tissue
engineering skin, a series of tissue engineering skin large-scale production
equipments, including large collagen extraction tanks, production robots and
skin plants, have been designed and developed, which ensured the equipment
supply for mass production of the skin. Patent application of the production
lines and equipments at the new plant will be made to protect the intellectual
property of the Company. Our business involves the human health cause, as
well as new medical technology. We strive to achieve 100% security of the
new plant and zero-pollution of our products, even if the project has been
delayed, we will still strive for perfection, so as to take an important position
in stem cell engineering industry. After the said capital contributions are well
received by Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue, it has been actively dealing with plant
related problems. All equipments of the plant have already been in place and
the related technicians have been provided with professional training, anyway,
proper preparations have been made for pilot production.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Cont'd)

Clinical R&D Programs of Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue

The Tissue Engineering Skin “Z48/& " (the “ActivSkin”) is the major product
of Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue, as well as the main product manufactured
by the new plant. Although the “ActivSkin” could be put into commercial
production, in order to widen its indications, especially during the recover
phase of diabetic foot treatment, as of the end of April 2011, we enrolled 55
cases with four hospitals, including Air Force General Hospital, PLA (R A
REENEZTFEER) for clinical trial. As the “ActivSkin” used for clinical
trial was not sufficient at the earlier stage, the clinical progress was delayed.
Currently, clinical department of Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue is making efforts
to complete 30 to 60 cases (total: 120 cases) by December 2011 and planning
to end up the increasing indication trails of the “ActivSkin” in December
2012. Application materials will be submitted to the State Food and Drug
Administration for registration in the first half of 2013.

“Acellular Cornea” (BRAIIBERABAR) researched and developed by Shaanxi
AiNear Cornea Engineering Company Limited, a subsidiary of Shaanxi Aierfu
Activtissue is fully access to clinical stage. As of the end of April 2011, it
enrolled 71 cases, striving to complete the enrollment of all cases (total: 120
cases) in December 2011. It is expected to complete the clinical trial in June
2012. Application materials will be submitted to the State Food and Drug
Administration for registration in 2012.

Selective Acellular Porcine Skin mainly used for large-area burns and ulcers
researched and developed by PREEXE A £ T2 B R A 7] (Shaanxi AiBosin
Bio-Engineering Company Limited*), another subsidiary of Aierfu Activtissue, is
also access to the clinical stage, enrolling a total of 5 cases.

The Establishment of a Sales Company

The Group has also set up a sales company, PRFEPEEEEZEERERA
&) (hereinafter referred to as “A#EE4E") |, in Xian in July 2010 through
FD(H) Investments Limited. The establishment of F4£ 2= aims to satisfy the
needs of sales immediately after the formal commencement of production of
Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue. FAZEE has successfully obtained the Medical
Device Distribution Enterprise License (EEREzSMiAL &M AIFE) and thus
expanded its business scope. Apart from focusing on distributing the products
of Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue, the Group also actively seek to cooperate with
other companies in the trading of medical devices to expand its business.

The Establishment of a Representative Office in Beijing
Besides, the Group has also set up a representative office in Beijing, which is a
major city of the country and also is a concentration place of major hospitals.
This representative office mainly acts as a communication centre, especially for
the purpose of strengthening the communication and contacts with hospitals,
and attracts a group of expert customers to build a solid base for selling our
products and bring returns for the Group.

*  For identification only
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OPERATIONS REVIEW (Cont'd)

Business Outlook

Bio-technology is generally acknowledged as one of the technologies with
the highest potential in the 21st century, which grows rapidly, particularly in
tissue engineering. Currently, many countries are striving to conduct relevant
research, expecting to be a leading country in biomedicine of next century.
We also put “biomedicine tissue engineering” into key projects.

Currently, an overarching priority of the Group is to realize industrialization
during the year, launch the research and development results undertook by
Shaanxi Aierfu over the past years into market and also accelerate the clinical
progress in respect of other products. This could not only bring revenue to
the Group, but also made a breakthrough in traditional treatment, as well as
create significant economic and social benefits.

In order to prepare for the marketing before commercial production of
the new plant, the Group is also proactively seeking external appropriate
customers through PREGHPAE BB E B R B R A T

The Group has always been actively investigating and developing new
technologies and keeping eyes on the business market in order to achieve a
better financial performance.

GROUP CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY
Shareholders’ Funds

The shareholder’s equity of the Group as at 30 April 2011 is approximately
HK$418,662,000 which was increased compared to approximately
HK$414,056,000 in the previous year.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30 April 2011, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$36,957,000 (2010: approximately HK$49,256,000). The current
assets mainly comprised inventories of approximately HK$221,000
(2010: approximately HK$348,000), trade receivables of approximately
HK$3,142,000 (2010: approximately HK$23,000), deposits, prepayments
and other receivables of approximately HK$71,615,000 (2010: approximately
HK$11,742,000), and cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$37,959,000 (2010: approximately HK$162,499,000). The Company
intends to finance the Group’s future operations, capital expenditure and
other capital requirements with the bank balances available. The current
liabilities mainly comprised trade payable of approximately HK$1,602,000
(2010: approximately HK$643,000), accrued charges and other payables
of approximately HK$54,034,000 (2010: approximately HK$62,373,000),
amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries of approximately
HK$20,344,000 (2010: approximately HK$19,280,000), and convertible
bonds of nil (2010: approximately HK$43,060,000).
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GROUP CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY
(Cont'd)

Capital Structure

On 29 September 2010, 80,000,000 shares of the Company were issued
upon exercise of share options at an exercise price of HK$0.06125 per share
under the share option scheme adopted on 29 August 2002.

On 6 May 2010 and 8 October 2010, a total of HK$45,000,000 principal
amount of the zero coupon convertible bonds issued on 29 October 2008
was converted into 500,000,000 and 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company respectively at a price of HK$0.03 per share by All Favour Holdings
Limited (“All Favour”). The respective shares were allotted to All Favour on 6
May 2010 and 8 October 2010 respectively. As at 30 April 2011, there were
no outstanding convertible bonds.

As a result, the number of issued shares of the Company is 7,056,880,000 as
at 30 April 2011 and the date of this report.

Working Capital and Gearing Ratio

As at 30 April 2011, the Group had current assets of approximately
HK$112,937,000 (2010: approximately HK$174,612,000), while its current
liabilities stood at approximately HK$75,980,000 (2010: approximately
HK$125,356,000). Other than convertible bonds of nil (2010: approximately
HK$43,060,000), the Group did not have any outstanding indebtedness as
at 30 April 2011, and its shareholders’ funds amounted to approximately
HK$418,662,000 (2010: approximately HK$414,056,000). In this respect,
the Group had a net cash position, its working capital ratio (current assets
to current liabilities) was 1.49 (2010: 1.39); and its gearing ratio (net debt to
shareholders’ funds) was nil (2010: 0.104).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

As at 30 April 2011, the Group has no financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (2010: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitment of the Group as at 30 April 2011 is approximately
HK$34,662,000 (2010: approximately HK$30,570,000). It is related to the
purchase of property, plant and equipment contracted but not provided for
net of deposit paid amount.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS/DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Save as the capital contribution of RMB87.50 million to increase its holding
of equity interest in Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue from 51% to 87.68% which
was passed on the EGM held on 24 August 2010 and all the condition
precedent stipulated under the capital increase agreement has been fulfilled
and the capital increase was completed on 17 September 2010, there were
no acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the
year ended 30 April 2011.

On 31 May 2011, Shaanxi AiNear Cornea Engineering Company Limited
entered into the share transfer agreements with an independent third party
and the close relative of Mr. Yang Zhengguo, an executive Director of the
Company, to acquire 100% of equity interest of Shenzhen AiNear Cornea
Engineering Company Limited at the total consideration of HK$2,380,000.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Segmental information of the Group is set out in note 6 to the financial
statements.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 30 April 2011, the Group had 165 (2010: 135) employees located in
Hong Kong and Mainland China. As an equal opportunity employer, the
Group’s remuneration and bonus policies are determined with reference to
the performance and experience of individual employees. The total amount
of employee remuneration (including that of the directors and retirement
benefits scheme contributions) of the Group for the year was approximately
HK$12,820,000 (2010: approximately HK$15,486,000).

In addition, the Group may offer options to reward employees who exhibit
that they have offered significant contributions to the Group.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS
No assets of the Group were pledged as at 30 April 2011.

DETAILS OF FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The directors do not have any plans for material investment or capital assets in
the near future.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue and incurs cost in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. The Directors consider the impact of foreign exchange exposure of
the Group is minimal.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 April 2011, the Group did not have any contingent liabilities (2010:
Nil).
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Biographical Details of Directors

ESET

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Gao Gunter (“Dr. Gao”), aged 55, is the Chairman of the Board and
an executive director of the Company. He is also the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He
joined in the Group in July 2009. Currently, Dr. Gao is the Chairman of the
Board of Sunbase International (Holdings) Limited, Asia Pacific Hi-Technology
Investment (Holdings) Limited and Asia Pacific Airlines (Holdings) Ltd., and the
Chairman of Shenzhen Century Epitech Co. Ltd. (the above companies are not
public companies listed in Hong Kong or overseas), a member of the eighth,
ninth, tenth and eleventh CPPCC National Committee of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China, the member of the
9th and 10th of the Foreign Affairs Committee of CPPCC National Committee
and the vice chairman of the Subcommittee of Education, Science, Culture,
Health and Sports of the CPPCC National Committee. Dr. Gao is a Justice of
the Peace, a member of Election Committee of Chief Executive Election of
HKSAR, a committee of Election Committee of Legislative Council of HKSAR,
a member of the Committee of the National People’s Congress Election
Committee of HKSAR and is also served as the chairman of the Association
of Chinese Culture of Hong Kong (B4 XL &), The General Association
for the Promotion of Cross-strait Peaceful Development of Hong Kong (&
7B T B B AR A D), the chief officer of the Chinese and Foreign
Enterprises Cooperation Committee (FIMPEASEEZ E ) and the senior
economic consultant of the People’s Government of Hebei, Tianjin, Shannxi,
Yunnan, Hubei provinces, and the chairman of China and Hong Kong Trade
and Investment Promotion Association Limited.

Mr. Luo Xian Ping (“Mr. Luo”), aged 47, is an executive director and chief
executive officer of the Company, is also the authorized representative of the
Company and he joined the Group in March 2009. Mr. Luo graduated from
Jiangxi University. He also obtained master degree in Business Management
from Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences University.
Mr. Luo is a Certified Public Accountants registered in the PRC and Chinese
Certified Public Valuer. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Luo has over 14
years'experience in assets restructuring/corporate finance. Currently, Mr. Luo
is a director of FD(H) Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and responsible for overall business development and operation
of Tissue Engineering Skin of PREEN B S 44 TIZHER A A (Shanxi Ajerfu
Activtissue Engineering Company Limited*), a subsidiary of the Company.
From 1998 to 2001, he had worked as an executive director of Huaxia
Securities, responsible for assets restructuring and human resources within the
company and managing business of the company in Hong Kong branch. From
1995 to 1998, Mr. Luo was the Vice-secretary for Youth Executive President
Committee (EF 4% ZE EE) of National State-owned Asset Administration
Bureau and had worked as General Manager in Beijing Assets Valuation
Company Limited.

*  For identification only
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Mr. Dai Yumin (“Mr. Dai”), aged 50, is an executive director of the
Company and he joined the Group in March 2009 and has been appointed
as compliance officer and authorized representative of the Company in 2009.
Mr. Dai holds a bachelor degree in Professional Finance. Mr. Dai had been a
marketing consultant of Treasure Star Trading Limited, a subsidiary of PME,
and resigned on 30 June 2009. Currently, he is a vice president of China
Leasing Company Limited* (FEIFEHBPR /A F]); and the chairman of China
Jiangxi Juye Asset Management Company Limited* (FETI B EEES
AR AF]). Mr. Dai also serves as Standing Committee Member of China
Strategy and Development Research Institute and China Reproductive Health
Industry Association* (R EI4=FEEEE S HE). Mr. Dai currently is a director
of Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue Engineering Company Limited* (B% 78 X 55 5 4844
TEABRR AR, asubsidiary of the Company, and holds its 0.74% interests.

Mr. Yang Zheng Guo (“Mr. Yang”), aged 52, is an executive director of
the Company, and he joined the Group on 11 March 2010. Mr. Yang is a
director of Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue Engineering Company Limited (“Aierfu”),
Shaanxi AiNear Cornea Engineering Co. Ltd. (“AiNear”), Shaanxi AiBosin Bio-
Engineering Co. Ltd. and Shaanxi Aimeiya Bio-Technology Co. Ltd., which are
the subsidiaries of the Company. He also has 4.91% and 27.93% interests in
Aierfu and AiNear respectively. Mr. Yang was a Standing Committee Member
of the Eighth Shaanxi Provincial Committee of CPPCC (BREAZ K HEN\JEE
%) in 1998, a Committee Member of Yulin, Shaanxi Provincial Committee
of CPPCC (BRAEE MM EIHZ E) in 2000, a Standing Committee Member
of the Ninth Shaanxi Federation of Industry & Commerce (PRPE4 TR EES

FENIEEZE) in 2002 and a representative of National People’s Congress
of Shaanxi Province a (B854 ARHER) in 2007. He has been a Standing
Committee Member of the Ninth Shaanxi Provincial Committee of CPPCC (Bt
FEBHENEEZ) since 2003. Mr. Yang has involved in various industries,
including trading, logistics, catering, real estate, the research, development
and production of high-tech products, and is well experienced in investment
management, corporate management and capital funding.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Sai Hung, Oscar (“Mr. Wong"), aged 56, is the Vice-chairman of
the Board and a non-executive director of the Company. He joined the Group
in June 2008 and retired as the Chairman of the Board of the Company on 15
July 2009, following Dr. Gao’s appointment as the Chairman of the Board of
the Company. Mr. Wong graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a higher diploma in Business Studies (Marketing). He is a CEO of ICBC
(Asia) Investment Management Company Limited. In addition, Mr. Wong was
elected as an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited (Stock Code: 388), a company listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange in April 2003 and has been re-elected three times.
Currently he also serves as consultant and non-executive director for several
companies, including but not limited to being the non-executive director
of One Asset Management Limited, a company incorporated in Thailand,
and ARN Asian Enterprise Fund Limited, a company listed on the Irish Stock
Exchange.

*  For identification only
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Mr. Wong was the chief executive of BOCI-Prudential Asset Management
Limited (“BOCI-Prudential AMC"”) from 1 January 2001 to 31 December 2005
and had been responsible for the overall supervision and development of the
business of the new company. BOCI-Prudential AMC, which was serving over
300,000 clients and managing HK$25 billion at the end of his tenure, is 64%
owned by BOC International and 36% by Prudential of the UK. When that
joint venture company was starting up, Mr. Wong was the regional managing
director of Prudential Portfolio Managers Asia during 1999 to 2000.

From 1977 to 1998, he spent over 21 years at LGT Asset Management (“LGT
AM"). AMVESCAP, the parent of INVESCO, acquired LGT AM in June of
1998 and Mr. Wong became the deputy chief executive of their Asian office
until he left in October. He became the head of LGT AM’s Asian operation in
January 1998 after returning from the LGT mutual fund marketing operation
in Canada that he had helped to establish in 1994. From 1987 to 1988 he
was seconded to establish and run an investment management affiliate in
Taipei and he helped to start other similar joint ventures in Thailand, Indonesia
and China after returning to Hong Kong. During his first 10 years with LGT in
Hong Kong, he managed equity portfolios invested in Japan and other Pacific
markets.

Mr. Sze Cheung Pang, aged 67, is a non-executive director of the Company
and he joined the Group on 4 December 2009. Mr. Sze is currently an
executive director of Sunbase International (Holdings) Limited, the chairman
of the board of Geyung International Trading Co., Ltd., Geyung (Real Estate)
Co., Ltd. and Sweetie Favor Investment Limited, the founding president of
the Association of Chinese Culture of Hong Kong, the permanent honorary
president of the Hong Kong Eastern District Community Association, the
honorary president of the Fukienese Association Ltd., a standing director of
China Council for the Promotion of Peaceful National Reunification, a member
of the eighth, ninth, tenth and eleventh National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and deputy director of Hong Kong,
Macao, Taiwan and Overseas Chinese Committee of the CPPCC National
Committee.

Mr. Ma Long (“Mr. Ma"), aged 52, is a non-executive director and chief
internal auditor of the Company and he joined the Group on 11 March 2010.
Mr. Ma graduated from Macau University of Science and Technology with
a master degree in Business Administration. Mr. Ma has over twenty years
experience in taxation and he has been working in the field of taxation in
the Administration of Taxation of PRC. He also obtained the qualifications of
certified tax appraiser and the accountant of the People’s Republic of China.
He is a director of Aierfu, a subsidiary of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lui Tin Nang (“Mr. Lui”), aged 53, is an independent non-executive
director and also the chairman of audit committee, and the members of
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr.
Lui joined the Group in September 2004. He has obtained a bachelor degree
in science from the University of Leeds and a master degree in business
administration from the University of Bradford in United Kingdom. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(Practicing) and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales,
member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountant. He has years
of experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and corporate finance. Mr.
Lui is an independent non-executive director of National Investments Fund
Limited (Stock Code: 1227), Vital Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited, now
known as Vital Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1164) and CT Holdings
(International) Limited, now known as Brilliant Circle Holdings International
Limited (Stock Code: 1008), companies whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also appointed as an independent
non-executive director of China Pipe Group Limited (Stock Code: 380) and
resigned on 23 February 2009. In addition, Mr. Lui was also appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Finet Group Limited (Stock Code:
8317) from 26 August 2010 to 30 September 2010.

Mr. Sze Chin Hung (“Mr. Sze"), aged 66, is an independent non-executive
director of the Company, and is also the Member of each of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company. He joined the Company on 4 December 2009. Mr. Sze was a
director of Shenzhen China Bicycle Co (Holdings) Ltd, a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from 1992 to 2008 and he is now the Chairman
of HK Link (Group) Limited. He is also the Member of the Shenzhen Municipal
Standing Committee of CPPCC from 1988 to 1996; Standing Committee
member of All-China Federation Of Industry & Commerce from 1992 to
2002; Member of National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of PRC since 1994; Standing Committee member
of the Chinese General Chamber of Commerce since 2005; Member of the
Commission on Strategic Development of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region from 2005 to 2007, Justice of the Peace,
Hong Kong since 2005 and Member of the Hong Kong Election Committee
since 2007. Mr. Sze had also been a director of Hong Kong (Link) Bicycles
Limited (“HKLB"). During the period when he was a director of HKLB, HKLB
received a winding-up order from the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, Court of First Instance on 6 May 1999 for an alleged
sum of HK$1,676,688,138 deficit. Mr. Sze Chin Hung has settled all the
creditors in relation to HKLB which were under his personal guarantee and
the Company has no reason to believe that the winding-up of HKLB would
directly or indirectly concerns any aspect of the affairs of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance
practices. The Group believes that high standard of corporate governance
provides a framework and solid foundation for achieving, attracting and
retaining the high standard and quality of the Group’s management,
promoting high standards of sound internal control, accountability and
transparency to all shareholders and also meeting the expectations of the
Group's various stakeholders.

The Company has complied with all the code provisions as set out in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) to the Appendix 15 of
the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 30 April 2011 except the
code provisions E.1.2 and A.5.4 of the CG Code as disclosed below:

(i) Code provision E.1.2 specifies that the chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting of the Company. Dr. Gao Gunter,
the chairman of the Board has been heavily involved in the business
operations of the Group. Despite his utmost intention to be present at
the Company’s 2010 annual general meeting held on 13 September
2010 (the “AGM"), Dr. Gao was unable to attend the AGM due to other
urgent business commitments of the Group. While Mr. Wong Sai Hung,
Oscar, non-executive Director and the vice chairman of the Company,
has taken the chair of that meeting thereat to be available to answer
question to ensure effective communication with the shareholders of the
Company.

(i)  Code provision A.5.4 specifies that the directors must comply with their
obligations under the required standard of dealing set out in rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. While Mr. Dai Yumin, the executive
director of the Company, has breached rule 5.56 of the GEM Listing
Rules as to the spouse of Mr. Dai has acquired a total of 52,620,000
shares of the Company during the blackout periods from 17 February
2011 to 23 February 2011 and from 21 June 2011 to 28 June 2011
for the purpose of fulfilling the migration requirements but she has not
notified Mr. Dai or the chairman of the Company. When Mr. Dai was
aware of the above acquisitions of shares, he has notified the Company
and the Stock Exchange immediately.

(iii)  Following the resignation of Mr. Cheung Siu Chung on 11 May 2011,
the Company only have two independent non-executive Directors and
two audit committee members, the number of which falls below the
minimum number required under Rule 5.05(1) and Rule 5.28 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Board will appoint an appropriate person to fill
the vacancy as soon as possible within three months from 11 May 2011
pursuant to Rule 5.06 and Rule 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is charged with the duty to put in place a proper corporate
governance structure of the Company. It is primarily responsible for setting
directions, formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing
risks of the Group. Under the Board, there are currently 3 subcommittees,
namely audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee. All these committees perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference and assist the Board in supervising
certain functions of the senior management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition and Board Practices

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company and its businesses by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. Details of the membership of the Board together with their roles and
functions are posted on the Company’s website and such information shall be
updated whenever there are changes.

As at 30 April 2011, the Board comprises eleven Directors, including five
executive Directors (the “Executive Director(s)”) namely Dr. Gao Gunter,
Mr. Luo Xian Ping, Mr. Tin Ka Pak (resigned on 11 May 2011), Mr. Dai
Yumin and Mr. Yang Zheng Guo; three non-executive Directors (the “Non-
executive Director(s)”) namely Mr. Wong Sai Hung, Oscar, Mr. Sze Cheung
Pang and Mr. Ma Long; and three independent non-executive Directors (the
"Independent Non-executive Director(s)”) namely Mr. Lui Tin Nang, Mr.
Cheung Siu Chung (resigned on 11 May 2011) and Mr. Sze Chin Hung. There is
no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship amongst
the Directors.

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attention
paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group. The principle
functions of the Board are to:

o establish the strategic direction and development of the Group;

o determine the broad policies, strategies and objectives of the Group;

o approve annual budgets, major funding proposals, investment and
divestment proposals;

e  oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy and integrity of
internal controls, risk management, financial reporting and compliance;

o approve the nominations of directors by nomination committee and
appointment of management team and/or external auditors;

o ensure accurate, adequate and timely reporting to, and communication
with shareholders;

o monitor and manage potential conflicts of interest of management,
board members and shareholders, including misuse of corporate assets

and abuse in related party transactions; and

e assume responsibility for corporate governance.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Cont'd)

Board Composition and Board Practices (Cont'd)

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the Executive
Directors and senior management, while reserving certain key matters for its
approval. As at 30 April 2011, there are three Independent Non-executive
Directors so that there is a strong element of independence in the Board to
exercise independent judgement. Moreover, at least one of the Independent
Non-executive Directors have appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise so that they are of
sufficient caliber and number for their views to carry weight.

During the year, the attributes, skills and expertise among the Directors are
considered appropriate to effectively lead and control the Group, taking into
account the scope and nature of its operations. The Directors have a mix of
core competencies in areas such as accounting and finance, business and
management, industry knowledge and marketing strategies. The experience
and qualifications of the Directors are set out in the section of “Biographical
Details of Directors” on pages 11 to 14 of this Annual Report.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and
skill and fiduciary duties as the Executive Directors. Their functions include,
but not limited to:

e  participating in Board meetings to bring in independent judgment
to bear on issues of corporate strategy, corporate performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standard of conducts;

o taking the lead when potential conflicts of interests arise;

. serving on audit, remuneration and nomination committees, if invited;
and

e scrutinising the Group's performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance.

During the year, the Board complies at all times with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least 3 Independent Non-
executive Directors and at least one of them have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
Pursuant to the Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has received
a written confirmation from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors
of their independence to the Company. The Company considers that all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Cont'd)

Board Composition and Board Practices (Cont’d)

The Board schedules four meetings a year at approximately quarterly intervals
and will be met as necessary. During the year ended 30 April 2011, the Board
held 10 meetings, of which 4 are regular meetings. The Directors can attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic communication in
accordance with the Company'’s articles of association. Notice of at least 14
days is given of a regular Board meeting to give all Directors an opportunity
to attend. The following table shows the attendance of individual Directors at
the meetings held during the year:

E=2(®)
EESARRESEEER(E)
E=eEFRHNASH  ROBFRT X IH
REZERETERE -PEBEE_T——FHOA=1H
LEFE  BEFGHBTTRGH  EPOARENS
& BRAFANEBARPABEIRMBIFETZ
HttBEFBASTAEEEE - ARASECHES
EFHRARDVAR  AEEFEHBY  EHE
mehFEes TREFIENEEFFALFESEZE
W

Attendance/

Number of
Name of Directors Meetings held

HE BT
EEpg el
Executive Directors HITES
Gao Gunter (Chairman) =HE(EE) 8/10
Luo Xian Ping (Chief Executive Officer) BBV (7THAE#) 10/10
Dai Yumin HEH 8/10
Yang Zheng Guo SIEE 4/10
Tin Ka Pak (resigned on 11 May 2011) BRE(R=FE——F7H+—HEFIT) 1710
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Wong Sai Hung, Oscar (Vice Chairman) =i (FFE) 10/10
Sze Cheung Pang RS 6/10
Ma Long 5 6/10
Xu lifeng (resigned on 3 September 2010) BREB(R=ZF—FFNA=HFHT) 0/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Lui Tin Nang = RAE 710
Sze Chin Hung TR Ak 7710
Cheung Siu Chung (resigned on 11 May 2011) RIGH (R ZE——F 7 H+—HEFHE) 110

Board papers are circulated at least 3 days before the Board meetings to
enable the Directors to make informed decisions on matters to be raised at
the Board meetings. In addition, the Company has maintained a procedure
for the Directors to seek independent professional advice, in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging their duties to the
Company. Moreover, the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) prepares minutes and keeps records of matters discussed and
decisions resolved at all Board meetings. The Company Secretary also keeps
the minutes, which are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Cont'd)

Appointment, Election and Re-election

Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by the
nomination committee. It reviews the profiles of the candidates and makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, renomination and
retirement of Directors.

All Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors have
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for one year. According
to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the Directors are
required to retire from office at each annual general meeting, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once in every
three years. The Directors retire at the annual general meeting of the company
shall be those appointed by the Board during the year and those who have
been longest in office since their last election or reelection.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities for the Directors
in relation to the quarterly, interim and annual financial statements.

Annual Report and Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial statements
for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and in presenting the quarterly, interim and annual financial
statements, and announcements to shareholders, the Directors aim to present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects.

Accounting Period

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the Group
uses appropriate accounting policies that are consistently applied, and that all
applicable accounting standards are followed.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the
Group and which enable the preparation of financial statements in accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards as promulgated by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent or detect fraud and other
irregularities.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future and that, for this reason, its is appropriate to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the year, the roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the
"CEQ") were segregated and performed by Dr. Gao Gunter and Mr. Luo Xian
Ping respectively. This segregation ensures a clear distinction between the
Chairman’s and the CEQ's responsibilities which allows a balance of power
between the Board and the management of the Group, and ensures their
independence and accountability. There is no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship between the Chairman and the CEO.

Dr. Gao Gunter, as the Chairman during the year, has overall responsibilities
for providing leadership, vision and direction in the development of the
business of the Company. He ensures that:

o the Board functions effectively, and that all key and appropriate issues
are properly briefed and discussed by the Board in a timely manner;

o the responsibilities for drawing up the agenda for each Board meeting
and, where appropriate, taking into account any matters proposed by
each Director for inclusion in the agenda;

e good corporate governance practices and procedures are established
and encourages all Directors to make full and active participation to the
affairs of the Group; and

e the Board acts in the best interests of the Group.

Mr. Luo Xian Ping, as the CEO during the year, was responsible for the day-
to-day management of the business of the Group, attended to formulation
and successful implementation of policies, and assumed full accountability
to the Board for all operations of the Group. Working with the executive
management team of each core business division, he ensures the smooth
operations and development of the Group. He maintained a continuing
dialogue with the Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed of
all major business developments and issues.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the
Board procedures are followed and for ensuring that the Board is fully briefed
on all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments and
that it has regarded to them when making decisions. The Company Secretary
is also directly responsible for the Group’s compliance with the continuing
obligations of the GEM Listing Rules, The Codes on Takeovers and Mergers
and Share Repurchases, Companies Ordinance, Securities and Futures
Ordinance and other applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the CG Code, the Company has set up a nomination committee
with a majority of the members thereof being Independent Non-executive
Directors. The nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) has
been established on 22 July 2005 and comprises a majority of Independent
Non-executive Directors, which schedules to meet at least once a year. During
the year, it was chaired by Mr. Gao Gunter and all Nomination Committee
members, with the exception of Mr. Gao Gunter, are Independent Non-
executive Directors. The quorum necessary for the transaction of business is
two.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on the
Company's website. The principal functions of the Nomination Committee
include:

o to make recommendations to the Board on all new appointments or re-
appointments of Directors, the establishment of a succession plan for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the CEO and the composition
of the Board;

o to identify and nominate qualified individuals, subject to the approval
of the Board, to be additional Directors or to fill vacancy in the Board as
and when they arise;

. to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution
by each Director to the Board,;

e  toreview the Board structure, size and composition and the independent
element of the Board on an annual basis;

. to develop the criteria for selection of Directors; and
o to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee will report to the Board on its
proceedings and recommendations after each meeting.

During the year ended 30 April 2011, 3 meetings of Nomination Committee
was held to review the structure, size and composition of the Board, assess
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and make
recommendation to the Board relating to the renewal services of Independent
Non-executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors. The following
table shows the attendance of individual Directors at the meeting of the
Nomination Committee held during the year:
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Attendance/

Number of

Name of Nomination Committee Members Meetings held
HE BT

REZEEHENS EELE
Gao Gunter (Chairman) EAIE (/) 3/3
Lui Tin Nang EPNGZ 3/3
Sze Chin Hung R AR 2/3
Cheung Siu Chung (resigned on 11 May 2011) IR (R=—F——FA7HA+—HET) 1/3
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

According to the CG Code, the Company has set up a remuneration
committee with a majority of the members thereof being Independent
Non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) has been established on 22 July 2005 and comprises a majority
of Independent Non-executive Directors, which schedules to meet at least
once a year. During the year, it was chaired by Mr. Gao Gunter and all
Remuneration Committee members, with the exception of Mr. Gao Gunter,
are Independent Non-executive Directors. The quorum necessary for the
transaction of business is two.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the
Company’s website. The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee
include:

e to assist the Board in achieving its objective of attracting, retaining and
motivating people of the highest caliber and experience needed to
shape and execute strategy across the Company’s substantial, diverse
and international business operations;

e torecommend a fair and transparent framework of executive
remuneration for the Board and senior management of the Company,
including share option scheme, based on the skill, knowledge,
involvement in the Company’s affairs and by reference to the Company’s
performance and profitability, as well as remuneration benchmark in the
industry and the prevailing market conditions;

e  toreview and determine specific remuneration packages for each
Executive Director and senior management by reference to corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time; and

e to administer the performance bonus scheme and the share option
scheme for the employees of the Company.

No Directors can determine their own remuneration package. The chairman
of the Remuneration Committee will report to the Board on its proceedings
and recommendations after each meeting. The recommended remuneration
packages are subject to approval by the Board.

The remuneration package of Directors and senior management includes the
following:

(a) Basic salary
The basic salary (inclusive of statutory employer contributions to
Provident Fund) for each Executive Director/senior management is
recommended by the Remuneration Committee, taking into account the
performance of the individual, the inflation price index and information
from independent sources on the rates of salary for similar jobs in a
selected group of comparable organisations.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Cont’d)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

Fees

Fees paid/payable to the Executive Directors are determined by the Board
after considering the corporate and individual’s relative performance
against the comparable organisations. The fees paid/payable to the Non-
Executive Directors takes into account factors such as effort and time
spent, and responsibilities of these Directors.

Bonus scheme

The Group operates a bonus scheme for all employees, including
the Executive Directors and senior management. The criteria for the
scheme is the level of profit achieved from certain aspects of the
Group’s business activities against targets, together with an assessment
of corporate and individual’s performance during the year. Bonuses
payable to the Executive Directors/senior management are reviewed by
the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board to ensure
alignment of their interests with those of shareholders of the Company.

Benefits in kind
Other customary benefits (such as private medical cover) are made
available as appropriate.

Directors’ share options

The Group operates a share option scheme for senior management,
employees and external consultants. The terms of the scheme and the
movement in Directors’ share options during the financial year ended 30
April 2011 are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

Directors’ emoluments comprise payments to the Directors by the
Company and its subsidiaries in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries. The amounts paid to each
Director of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2011 are set out in
note 9 to the financial statements.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Cont'd)
(e) Directors’ share options (Cont'd)

During the year ended 30 April 2011, a meeting of Remuneration
Committee was held to review the remuneration package of the Board
and the senior management. The following table shows the attendance
of individual Directors at the meeting of the Remuneration Committee
held during the year:

FMES S ()

() ES=RBEREER)
RBE-FT——FMA=+AILFE  FMHE
BRUBTIREH  HUARTEEERBRE
R ZHMES « TRESIEREEFALRE

FEEgeRZER

Attendance/

Number of

Name of Remuneration Committee Members Meetings held
HE BT

FHEEERER A 23¥E
Gao Gunter (Chairman) =B (LE) 7
Lui Tin Nang EPNGE 7
Sze Chin Hung e A& on
Cheung Siu Chung (resigned on 11 May 2011) RIKRR=F——F 7 [+—HEHT) m”n

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The GEM Listing Rules require every listed company to establish an audit
committee comprising at least three members who must be non-executive
directors only, and the majority thereof must be independent non-executive
directors, at least one of whom must have appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) on 4 July
2001 with reference to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee in
terms substantially same as the provisions set out in the CG Code. The revised
terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the Company’s
website. During the year, it was chaired by Mr. Lui Tin Nang and all Audit
Committee members are Independent Non-executive Directors.

The major duties of the Audit Committee include:

24

to consider and recommend the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of external auditors;

to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of external
auditors, any questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditors;

to review and monitor external auditors’ independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards;

to discuss with external auditors the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences;

to develop and implement policy on the engagement of an external
auditors to supply non-audit services and to make recommendation of

any measures for improvements to be taken;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Cont’d)

to review the quarterly, interim and annual financial statements and the
quarterly, interim and annual reports before submission to the Board,
focusing particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(i) major judgmental areas;

(iii)  significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting principles and standards; and

(vi) compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

to review the Group’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems and ensure that the management has discharged
its duty to have an effective internal control system;

to consider any findings of major investigations of internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response;

to review the internal audit programme, ensure co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors, and ensure that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within
the Company and to review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal
audit function;

to review the external auditors’ management letter, any material queries
raised by the auditors to management in respect of the accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s
response and to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to
the issues raised; and

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate into any matter
under the scope of its duties and the authority to obtain independent
professional advice. It is given full access to and assistance from the
management and reasonable resources to discharge its duties properly.

The Group's quarterly results for the three months ended 31 July 2010, six
months ended 31 October 2010, nine months ended 31 January 2011 and
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2011
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Cont'd)

During the year ended 30 April 2011, 4 meetings of Audit Committee were
held to review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control of the Group. The following table shows the attendance of individual
Directors at the meetings of the Audit Committee held during the year:

EREER(H)
REBEE-_T——FNHA=THILFE  ExZEgHh
BITHOREE WA RERRNEE 2 B 22T
RAEEE - TRESEREETFALFERLZES
ERIER

Attendance/

Number of

Name of Audit Committee Members Meetings held
HE BT

EREZEEGRENRR BEEE
Lui Tin Nang (Chairman) Ree(EE) 44
Sze Chin Hung P RE 4/4
Cheung Siu Chung (resigned on 11 May 2011) RIKR(R=F——F 7 A+—HEIT) 1/4
Full minutes of the Audit Committee are kept by the Company Secretary. HBZZEE® %%@%uﬂﬁﬁﬂ“ﬂﬁéi{%ﬁ BIZZE
Draft and finalised minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are circulated E&r &% IRETHE  CREREREC AT

to all members of the Audit Committee for their comments and records
respectively, in both cases within reasonable time after the conclusion of the
meetings.

Auditors’ Remuneration

An amount of HK$360,000 (2010: HK$300,000) was charged to the Group’s
for the year ended 30 April 2011 for the auditing services by BDO Limited, the
existing auditors of the Company who was appointed on 13 December 2010.
An amount of nil (2010: HK$100,000) was charged to the Group for the
year ended 30 April 2011 for the non-audit services provided by BDO Limited
during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND GROUP RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control system of the Group. The Group’s system of internal control
includes a defined management structure with limits of authority, is designed
to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations.
The system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s
objectives.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND GROUP RISK
MANAGEMENT (Cont’'d)

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted reviews of the
effectiveness of the Group's system of internal control. The Board, through
the review of the Audit Committee, based on the discussions with the
external auditors and base on the report prepared by the chief internal auditor
of the Company, is satisfied that the Group has fully complied with the Code
Provisions on internal controls during the year under review as set forth in the
CG Code.

Organisational Structure and Reporting System

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines of
responsibility and delegated authority has been established. A comprehensive
monthly management reporting is in place. The Division/Department Heads of
each core business division is accountable for the conduct and performance
of each business in the division within the agreed strategies, which are set by
themselves and the Board together, and report directly to the Board.

Authority and Control

The relevant Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate strategy and
policy and contractual commitments.

CODES AND POLICIES

Securities Dealing Code

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions as set out in GEM Listing Rules as the required standard for
securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, each of the Directors, except Mr. Dai Yumin as disclosed under the
section of “Corporate Governance Practices”, has confirmed that they have
fully complied with the required standards of dealings regarding securities
transaction by the Directors as set out on GEM Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 30 April 2011.

Code of Ethics

The Company adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to the Company's
principal executive officer and senior financial officers in the conduct and
practice of financial management and lays down the key principles that they
shall follow and advocate, which include honest and ethical conduct; full,
fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure; compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules and accounting standards and regulations; prompt internal
reporting; and accountability for adherence to the code. The Code of Ethics
is also intended to promote the wellbeing of the all employees, officers and
Directors in the workplace, and advocate high standards of professional
conduct and work performance.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHT

The Company uses a number of formal communications channels to account
to shareholders and investors for the performance of the Company. These
include (i) the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports; (ii) the
annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting providing a forum
for shareholders of the Company to raise comments and exchanging views
with the Board; (iii) updated and key information of the Group available
on the website of the Company; (iv) the Company’s website offering
communication channel between the Company and its shareholders and
investors; and (v) the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong serving the
shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors with high
standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board is committed to
provide clear, detailed, timely manner and on a regular basis information of
the Group to shareholders through the publication of quarterly, interim and
annual reports and/or dispatching circular, notices, and other announcements.

The Company strives to take into consideration its shareholders’ views and
inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns. Shareholders are encouraged to
attend the annual general meeting for which at least 20 clear days’ notice is
given. The Chairman as well as chairmen of Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee, or in their absence, Directors are
available to answer shareholders’ questions on the Group’s businesses at
the meetings. All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration by
shareholders. The poll will be conducted by the share registrar of the
Company and the results of the poll are published on the Stock Exchange's
website.
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The Directors present to the shareholders the Company’s annual report and
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are the provision of tissue engineering products.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2011 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 41 to 42.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 112.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the share capital and convertible bonds of the
Company during the year are set out in notes 30 and 28 respectively to the
financial statements.

RESERVES

The Group’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 30 April
2011 amounted to approximately HK$322,419,000 (2010: HK$292,413,000).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 46 to 47 and note 31 to the financial statements, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

EFEENAARRBRRREZBRE T ——FOA=T
BIEFE 2 FRRRERFAVITRE -

EREHR
ARAR—RHRARRAR - HHEARZEBEH
ARHEBTRER -

RERKRE
AEEBE-T——FMA=ALFEZ$HARR
ENFOEZRE SERARER -

BEEWNERIRERABE -

HBHE
REEBRERAEMBFEZEBEUREEHEBERE
HNE1128 -

B A R AT R R 1 5
RN TREA R AR ESF N F Rz &
R REMITE30 %28 ©

15 DRIE

=i

R-ZE——FWA=1+8 > AE@AATHDETH
R B A322419008L( — T —ZT4F
292,413,000/ 7T) °

AEBERARTNERZHBEEDHE - DRIERE
A6EATA Z IR A B R MM TS MR ML -

ME - BERRE
Epy - REMERNE | BE KRGS
BABERHI 167 -

EAEE0N

TEEMBEBENKZERAR 2011F5H 29




Directors’ Report
EEgWE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Gao Gunter (Chairman)

Luo Xian Ping (Chief Executive Officer)
Dai Yumin

Yang Zheng Guo

Tin Ka Pak (resigned on 11 May 2011)
Non-executive Directors

Wong Sai Hung, Oscar (Vice Chairman)
Sze Cheung Pang

Ma Long

Xu Jifeng (resigned on 3 September 2010)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Lui Tin Nang

Sze Chin Hung
Cheung Siu Chung (resigned on 11 May 2011)

In accordance with article 116 of the articles of association of the Company,
Mr. Gao Gunter, Mr. Dai Yumin and Mr. Lui Tin Nang shall retire from office
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out on pages 11 to
14 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Dr. Guo Gunter has entered into a service contract with the Company for an
initial term of two years commencing from 15 July 2009, which will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party serving not less than three months’
notice in writing to the other.

Each of Mr. Dai Yumin and Mr. Luo Xian Ping has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of two years commencing from
24 March 2009, which will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party serving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Mr. Yang Zheng Guo has entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial term of two years commencing from 10 March 2010, which will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party serving not less than three
months’ notice in writing to the other.

Mr. Wong Sai Hung, Oscar has entered into a new appointment letter with
the Company for another one year commencing from 23 June 2011 to act as
a Non-executive Director.

Mr. Sze Cheung Pang has entered into a new appointment letter with the
Company for another one year commencing from 4 December 2010 to act as
Non-executive Director.

Mr. Ma Long has entered into a new appointment letter with the Company
for another one year commencing from 11 March 2011 to act as Non-
executive Director.

Mr. Lui Tin Nang has entered into a new appointment letter with the
Company for another one year commencing from 30 September 2010 to
continue to act as the Independent Non-executive Director.

Mr. Sze Chin Hung has entered into a new appointment letter with the
Company for another one year commencing from 4 December 2010 to act as
an Independent Non-executive Director.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as those set out in note 36 to the financial statements, none of the
Directors had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were the rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company granted to any Director or chief executive of the Company or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights or benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 30 April 2011, the interests and short positions of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")), which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”), or to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long Positions
Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
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Aggregate long
position in the

Approximate
percentage of

shares and the issued
Name of directors Capacity underlying shares share capital
15 & AEEE R A7 2RITRAK
EEME 514 FEN vl oy BHAES T
Dai Yumin Held by controlled corporation (Note 1) 1,413,968,927 20.04%
(=28 R EEERE ()
Held by spouse (Note 2) 144,775,000 2.05%
BB REA (FisE2)
Gao Gunter Held by controlled corporation (Note 3) 420,000,000 5.95%
SaRE R EEREE (E3)
Wong Sai Hung, Oscar Beneficial owner 30,000,000 0.43%

= EmEAA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Cont'd)
Long Positions (Cont’'d)

Notes:

1. All Favour Holdings Limited is beneficially owned as to 40% by Forerunner
Technology Limited which is wholly owned by Mr. Dai Yumin; as to 40% by Plenty
Best Investments Limited which is wholly owned by Ms. Wan Fangli; and as to
20% by Honour Top Holdings Limited which is beneficially owned as to 66.67%
by Forerunner Technology Limited and as to 33.33% by Mr. Liu Chunping,
respectively. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Dai Yumin, an executive Director and Ms.Wan
Fangli are deemed to be interested in 1,413,968,927 Shares held by All Favour
Holdings Limited.

2. Mr. Dai Yumin was deemed to be interested in 144,775,000 shares of the
Company owned by his spouse, Ms. Deng Shu Fen, pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO.

3. Vital-Gain Global Limited (“Vital-Gain") is beneficially owned as to 71.43% by
Good Favour Limited (“Good Favour”). Good Favour is wholly owned by Big
Global Holdings Limited which is wholly owned by Dr. Gao Gunter. By virtue of
the SFO, Dr. Gao Gunter is deemed to have interest of the 420,000,000 shares
held by Vital-Gain.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had, as at 30 April 2011, any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

EERESF 2ER (&)
R (8
Fif

1. 2EERER A A BE S ES B A WForerunner
Technology Limited & # # %5 40% - HWan Fangli%Z £
2 & A 1 Plenty Best Investments Limited B 25 # &
40% K Honour Top Holdings Limited & 25 # & 20% -
ifl Honour Top Holdings Limited 8 % Bl £ Forerunner
Technology Limited X Liu Chunping?t £ E#% #£66.67%
K33.33% ° RBEBHRATKD - AITEFHSHEE
KWan FangliZ T # R AR E2IBERERABFFE 2
1,413,968,927 R A% 7 HE B #E A ©

2. RIEE 7 LS ROIEXVED - BEGEERE RN HEE
Deng Shu FenZ £ FT# 4 #)144,775,000% A A &% 15 R
AR -

3. ERIBHAR AR ([ER])EGood Favour Limited([ Good
Favour]) B # B 71.43% ° Good Favour [ Big Global
Holdings Limited® & %% - fBig Global Holdings Limited
HeMEEL2EHA - RESFLRBERE - S5iEE
TR AFME R AT 420,000,000 A (5 R A 2% ©

B EXXPTIRERSN R ——FMA=+H  EFK
ARBEZTBRAEBRARR A REAFBLEEGE
FABZMABGOIEXVED 2 - BRI RE
FHBEAAREES RPERAIEXVEET R H
A AR B R RPTz ERmRAR (BRERERE
EHRAEGRIZ BRGSURE R FES 2
HRE) - HARBENARBIRIEESF RAGHIE
352MFMEFE 2 ERM - SR BRETHMAMNS
RN T) B2 Pl 2 BEER HOA R ©

TEEMBEBENKZERAR 201145H 33




Directors’ Report
EEgWE *

SHARE OPTIONS B

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 29 August 2002 (the ~ ARARR =TT —F )\ A =+ L BENERETZ
2002 Share Option Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives ([ ZZZ - FEREFE]) c TBEMAEERA
to directors and eligible employees. BRESIRMHEES -

Details of the movements in the share options during the year ended 30 April  REBE—Z——FWNA=1+RHIFE  —TT_F

2011 under the 2002 Share Option Scheme are as follows: MRIEETEIIA T 2 AR Z BB HIE T ¢
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled  Outstanding Exercise price
Name or category of at during during during during at  Exercisable per share of
participant Date of grant 1 May 2010 the year the year the year theyear 30 April 2011 period the Company
R-B-%% R=F-——%
iA-H mA=t+H ARERH
SRARERER RHAH HATHE  REARH  RERTE  REREAR REAEH HWATHE  TERH BRITERE
HK$
BT
Others in aggregate
Hith - @5 29/08/2002 80,000,000 - (80,000,000 - - - 29/08/2002 - 0.06125
28/08/2012
Total
&t 80,000,000 - (80,000,000) - - -

The details of share options valuation, summary of the 2002 Share Option ~ BEIRIEMERE - T FRAREE e mE
Scheme and the weighted average value per share are set out in note 34 to  FIIEMMZERUMBEREM T34 -
the financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 April 2011, other than the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company disclosed above, persons or
companies who had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of
any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances of general
meetings of the Company or substantial shareholders as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:

Long positions in shares

FERR

R-ZE——FOA=+H  BEXAREEFHAR
RIEBITBABZ &S MORRIN  RARFRD - 18
Rk kERE R A AREE S LR EGRMIEXY
ME2RI3NBIERLAARRRWE 2 HRIKR - =X
HEIBERMAEEABER TAIRARARREER
RZBRRE EREZEN 2 EFRAEREES%
F AL (BRARRBREEH R AERPIE336KFE
ZBMATCEE ) EERRZ ALTHARMT

Rtz R

Aggregate
long position
in the shares and

Approximate
percentage of
the issued share

Name of shareholder Capacity underlying shares capital
B0 REER S 2RITRAE

BRRHES 54 Wtz A BHAEI T

All Favour Beneficial owner (Note 1 above) 1,413,968,927 20.04%

£ Emia A(EXHEED

Vital-Gain Global Limited Beneficial owner (Note 3 above) 420,000,000 5.95%

BERRHABRAT AR E3CHIEES)

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executives of the BREXFIHEEN  REE-ZT—FWNA=F+HIE

Company are not aware that there is any party who, as at the year ended
30 April 2011, had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or be directly
or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances of general meetings of
the Company or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1) On 15 July 2010, FD(H) Investments Limited (“FD(H)"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the capital increase agreement (the
“Capital Increase Agreement”) with the 49% shareholders (the “JV Partners”)
of RPN B AL TI2AR AR (Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue Engineering
Company Limited*) (the “JV Company”), pursuant to which the registered
capital of the JV Company would be increased from RMB29,400,000 to
RMB116,900,000 (the “Capital Increase”). The full amount of the Capital
Increase would be solely contributed by the Group, being RMB87,500,000 in
cash, upon the fulfillment of the conditions precedent and the completion of
the Capital Increase.

* For identification purpose only

FE > EERARREZZTRABLNHBEAAL
WA BB RARBAR O o A AR EE 7 LB %
BIFEXVERZ 52 K370 BMES A A R R H ER 2 #E s =k
KR RERIEERIE EEAIER T AIRART
FEERRZBRAEG LRE ZEMRAESIEE
5% IA_E R A R BIR B 75 M A E 5015336147
B2 ERMATRsE ) A o

BEXS

NRZZE—ZFLA+HHE ARANEZENE
A AIFD(H) Investments Limited ([ FD(H) J) E2pk g &
7 5 4845 T2 B BR /2 &) (Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue
Engineering Company Limited*)([ & & A 7] 1) H149%
BER(TEERHEDIIEEH=Z([EERZE] @ &
it - AE AR FEME AR B AR 29,400,000
JLHEE AR 116,900,000 ([ |) - RIER L
ARG RTHRIGE R  IBENZBHIE(BIARE
87,500,0007C ) EBAEEHE o

* BT
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

The Capital Increase would provide an additional funding to complete the
construction of the new factory and additional working capital to commence
the operations in this year.

As the JV Company is a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Mr.
Yang Zhengguo, being one of the substantial shareholders of the JV Company
and one of the executive Directors, Mr. Yang is therefore a connected person
of the Company. Accordingly, the Capital Increase constitutes a connected
transaction for the Company under Rules 20.11(1) of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Capital Increase was subject to reporting, announcement and approval of
the shareholders of the Company.

On 17 September 2010, all the condition precedent stipulated under the
Capital Increase Agreement has been fulfilled and the Capital Increase was
completed. FD(H)'s equity interest in the JV Company increased from 51% to
approximately 87.68%, and JV Partners’ equity interest in the JV Company
was diluted from an aggregate holding of 49% to approximately 12.32%
accordingly.

Details of the transaction are published in the Company’s announcement
dated 15 July 2010, 24 August 2010 and 17 September 2010 and in the
Company’s circular dated 9 August 2010.

2) On 31 May 2011, BRAA X ER AR T2 AR A A (Shaanxi AiNear Cornea
Engineering Company Limited*), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the share transfer agreements (the “Share
Transfer Agreements”) with Mr. Yang Shu Xiang and Ms. Gao (collectively,
the "Vendors”) pursuant to which, inter alia, the Company has agreed
to acquire, and the Vendors has agreed to sell, their respective 49% and
51% equity interests in FZINXERMAKETIZHBR AR (Shenzhen AiNear
Cornea Engineering Company Limited*) (the “Target Company”) at the total
consideration of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,380,000)
(the "Acquisition”).

The Target Company would take the lead in the development of new tissue
engineering products, which the Directors believe would enhance the
sustainable development of the Company, and such operations are in line
with the Company’s development strategy.

Mr. Yang Shu Xiang, one of the Vendors, is an associate of Mr. Yang
Zhengguo, an executive Director. Accordingly, the Vendors are connected
persons of the Company and the Acquisition constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules. The Acquisition
was exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements and
was only subject to the reporting and announcement requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the Acquisition are published in the Company’s announcement
dated 31 May 2011.

* For identification purpose only
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as incentive to Directors
and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in note 34 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders or the substantial
shareholders of the Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competes or
may compete with the business of the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 99%
of the Group's total turnover for the year. In particular, sales to the largest
customer of the Group accounted for approximately 98% of the Group's total
turnover for the year.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
29% of the Group's total purchases for the year, In particular, purchases from
the Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately 14% of the Group’s
total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company, their associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors of
the Company own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interests in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

EERAUESHALZHE

EERAEERNRSFATZHEFBHAT ISR
RHIFE9 -

H R
BAZFMEESEERBEAREEZELEEE  HAK
RRAELEZTHER - ma AN E 2 BB X
REZ NS MEILE 2 FNEE -

ARFERA—RBBHE S FRUEZENAER
BEZRE - %8 ZFHBENMIEMERMEE3S -

EENEFUEEL 2 ER

EFRANAEEERRAEBRARRE 2O 2
AR A (28 RLAISIR LR AR E A SRS
B T A e BT 2 A S

IEEFRHER
ARERAAR PO WS ERERRE RO ETEL
99% © BLULTTI % + A B RARS K EERE
B A A AI98% ¢

7R S 8 1) T R AL 7 O PR A AR SR [ % F TR AR SRR R
#129% ° Bt M s - AREAHEAHEEAREG
REEZEENBIREREN14% -

BEARRESR  HBEBEACERRAIFR EHHRAD
REFABEREARREEMRE  HAEARBDET
RAREES% 2 RN A LB AT P AR
BEMFE -

BE BEHHEAXAQF LTRSS

RER - ARRREEAHBEATLEREE - BEosk
HEARQRHER EHES
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-executive
Directors the written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company, based on such confirmations,
considers all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company set up an audit committee on 4 July 2001 with written terms
of reference for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
financial reporting process and internal controls of the Group. Following the
resignation of Mr. Cheung Siu Chung on 11 May 2011, the audit committee
currently comprises of Mr. Lui Tin Nang and Mr. Sze Chin Hung. The audit
committee has reviewed and discussed with the management and the
external auditors financial reporting matters including the annual results for
the year ended 30 April 2011.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association, or laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the years ended 30 April 2009
and 2010 were audited by Grant Thornton (“GTHK"), now known as JBPB
& Co. Due to a merger of business of GTHK and BDO Limited (“BDQO") to
practise in the name of BDO, GTHK resigned and BDO was appointed as
auditor of the Company effective from 13 December 2010. The financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2011 was audited
by BDO. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

GAO Gunter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 July 2011

38  China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited Annual Report 2011

RAZABERE
ﬁ#$“ﬂ%ﬁ2“%ﬁﬂ DA AR A ST
HEMAA - AT EEHAIER LT RAREZ

NRFFRE ©

BUYFHTES
AARBEES B HERTEFRBAER LTS
RIS 09R B B () Bk 2 BEHRE - ARF
ERZSHER  RALWELINTEEIRBIA
+ o

BREES
ARFER-ZE-FLANARYERZES I
SRR N EE B AR B 2 B R IRAR T S A ER BRI M AT
TEEBAERE o REPEEN T ——FHA+—
HEHER - BRZE SR AR REEEREREE
AR - ERE B0 HEIRE RN BEN RN &
AwHEHRREE  BREE—T—FHA=TH
LHEEZRFEE -

8

‘}

BrEER

ADE 2 AT MAK 2 B A DI MBS ES:
WBERIE  REAR AR OB ERNRE AR
R B E AR ©

=D
ARARBE-_ZENFR-_F-ZFMA=THILF
VZ%F&%EEﬁEEJ%ﬂUﬁméﬁD%V
B EEET - RIBOERERTRLEESRS
FHENEBAERA 7@%%4&%§§ﬁ%$ﬁ%D
ZEBEHNEBLEREGAMEBRZA) -
BEEBBEZBS %%4&%?2&%%%%5_
Z-TEA+ - AT =ZARETEARBAZEE - A2
ﬁi7§**¢EH*+E¢¢Fm%%ﬁ%BE§
B EREFSHAMERER - BHEBREELER
SIS AR R RIREEN ZRESR - BRARE
REEAFAE L22

RREFS

B —_E—FtA=-1+=H




Independent Auditor’s Report

B 2B EN RS

BDO

fEH : +852 28152239

Tel: +852 2541 5041
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25" Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
5 1 +852 2541 5041 BEATHERIHR

K251

www.bdo.com.hk

To the shareholders of
China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited
FEEYEBEELERRERAF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Bio-Med
Regeneration Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together “the Group”) set out on pages 41 to 111, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 30 April
2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

BHEEMBEBLENKAERAT
ERR
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Cont’d)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 30 April 2011
and of the Group's loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Li Wing Yin

Practising Certificate Number PO5035

Hong Kong, 22 July 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e S WA MRSR

For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE-ZT——FHA=tTHLFE

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
st THER FAET
Continuing operations: RS
Revenue & 5 2,621 30
Cost of sales SHEZ KR (933) (24)
Gross profit E7 1,688 6
Other income HAb U A 2,911 940
Administrative expenses THHX (54,528) (50,976)
Loss on financial assets at fair value through FEiBEmE A TEYER
profit or loss B EE 2 518 - (20,433)
Operating loss Fed—y 5] (49,929) (70,463)
Finance costs B E 7 (2,592) (10,782)
Loss on disposals of interests in associates HE RN AR 2 518 - (32)
Loss before income tax MRATEBiATE 18 8 (52,521) (81,277)
Income tax credit FriSHiE % 11 1,950 3,958
Loss after income tax from BECEER S
continuing operations MRATSBEEE (50,571) (77,319)
Discontinued operations: BRI
Loss for the year from discontinued operations B4R IFR&L¥T& 2 FE B 12 - (2,046)
Loss for the year REEEHR (50,571) (79,365)
Other comprehensive income ﬂﬂﬁéﬁﬂﬁll
Exchange gain/(loss) on translation of HBINEBIERRZ
financial statements of foreign operations [,EMSZ =5/ (E18) 6,040 (51)
Release of translation reserve upon disposals of [ H & B AEE G K
subsidiaries - 235
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHM2EBA 6,040 184
Total comprehensive income for the year REZEZEBKA (44,531) (79,181)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)

/N\Elﬁiﬁﬁqy)\#&%§<m\
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 #HZE=ZT——FNA=+HILFE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Htat FER FAT
Loss for the year attributable to: RTATRIEFERE :
Owners of the Company NATIER A 13 (42,061) (64,569)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR AR R R SR (8,510) (14,796)
(50,571) (79,365)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: LT A TFE(E2EULA 4458 :
Owners of the Company EIS/NSIEZZS N (36,500) (64,390)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR AR R R RS (8,031) (14,791)
(44,531) (79,181)
Loss per share for loss attributable to RABBEEANELEEZ
owners of the Company SRER 15
- basic (HK cents) —EA(EAL)
From continuing and discontinued LIEN
operations BRI EHERS (0.639) (1.891)
From continuing operations =Y S (0.639) (1.831)
- diluted (HK cents) —#5E (GB4L)
From continuing and discontinued operations SN E AR IS S E T N/A REA N/A TNE A
From continuing operations FHECE X N/A NEA N/A TiE A
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

sre MG ARLR

As at 30 April 2011 RZ=ZT——FMA=+H
2011 2010
—E2——F —E-TF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
biaE FERT FAET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 16 65,683 37,139
Land use rights and operating lease prepayments {5 Fi#E & 4% & FH & T8 1 508 17 5,132 4,962
Goodwill RS 20 141,310 141,310
Other intangible assets HEMhEREE 21 192,723 206,482
404,848 389,893
Current assets mENEE
Inventories FE 22 221 348
Trade receivables FEUE 5 B 23 3,142 23
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables &Re -~ TERRE R HE M EKARTE 23 71,615 11,742
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER 24 37,959 162,499
112,937 174,612
Current liabilities A N=Ri=
Trade payables FERTE SRR 25 1,602 643
Accrued charges and other payables Bt B R M EMENIRE 26 54,034 62,373
Amounts due to non-controlling interests of AN EPNGIE 2 24
subsidiaries e FE 27 20,344 19,280
Convertible bonds AR E 28 - 43,060
75,980 125,356
Net current assets REEEZFE 36,957 49,256
Total assets less current liabilities REERREBAE 441,805 439,149
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Deferred taxation IEAERE IR 29 23,143 25,093
Net assets EEFEE 418,662 414,056
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

sre BRI (

As at 30 April 2011 R=ZT——FMA=+H

2011 2010
—E——fF —T-FF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Hiat TER FET
EQUITY =

Share capital A& Zx 30 70,569 54,769
Reserves B 322,419 292,413

Equity attributable to owners of AAREE AEEER
the Company 392,988 347,182
Non-controlling interests FEIERR IR RS 25,674 66,874
Total equity R 418,662 414,056

Director Director
ETE BE
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Statement of Financial Position

B FSARLZR

As at 30 April 2011 R=Z——FMA=+H
2011 2010
—E2——F —E-TF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Kia FHET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE R 16 17 -
Investments in subsidiaries B AR ZIRE 18 200 200
217 200
Current assets REEE
Prepayments FBIHRE 154 93
Amounts due from subsidiaries PN E e 19 370,596 231,326
Cash and cash equivalents He RIS SEEE 24 3,400 151,062
374,150 382,481
Current liabilities REEE
Accrued charges and other payables R B A R EAERIA 1,165 1,708
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAHI B A B 708 19 13,378 13,383
Convertible bonds AR ES 28 - 43,060
14,543 58,151
Net current assets RBEEFE 359,607 324,330
Net assets EEFE 359,824 324,530
EQUITY xR
Share capital A&7 30 70,569 54,769
Reserves fEfE 317 289,255 269,761
Total equity B 359,824 324,530

Director
EE

Director
EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE_Z——FNMA=1THILFE
Non-
controlling
Attributable to owners of the Company interests Total
FER
EAREEAELR KFES At
Retained
Convertible profits/
bonds (Accu-
Share Share  Translation Special Other equity  mulated
capital  premium*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve* losses)* Total
TRKEE REER/
Rk REGEE RERE  BEER  Hbes  ReEE (ZRER) aif
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tién Titn Thr Tir Tén Tén Tin Tin TEn T
(note 30)
(#t30)
At 1 May 2009 RZZENERA-R 24,809 139,676 1,000 (200) - 43910 4539 213,734 81,665 295,399
Shares issued at premium KRBT KD 4960 124,000 - - - - - 128,960 - 128,960
Shares issue expenses ROBARR - (1,000 N - - - = (1,000 = (1,000
Conversion of convertible bonds SRARRES 25,000 72302 - - - (27 444) - 69,878 = 69,878
Transactions with owners EVEIN S 2990 195322 - - - (4 - 197838 - 197838
Loss for the year rEEER & 5 = - - - (64569 (64569)  (1479%)  (79.365)
Other comprehensive income Efr2ERA
Exchange loss on translation of BEBN B RRR ERER
financial statements of foreign operations - - (56) - - - - (56) 5 (51)
Redlassification adjustment relating to release of SR EMBAAEARE
translation reserve upon disposals of subsidiaries  Fefa(EHEIEH A EER
(note 35) (Hi235) - - 235 - - - - 235 - 235
Total comprehensive income for the year KEERAUARE - = 179 = = = (64569 (64390)  (14791)  (79,181)
At 30 April 2010 R=Z-35MA=1A 54,769 334,998 1179 (200) - 16,466 (60,030) 347,182 66,874 414,056
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

SreEmEER(E

For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE=ZT——FNHA=+HILFE

Non-
controlling

Attributable to owners of the Company interests Total
F2k

KATEEARE BRER At

Share Share  Translation Special
capital  premium*  reserve*  reserve*

Bx  BitaE  AREE  SRERE*
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TR TR TARL TEn

Retained
Convertible profits/
bonds (Accu-
Other equity  mulated
reserve* reserve* losses)* Total
TAKES REEN/
Bt RARE (RER) At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T Fhr Thn Thn Tin

(note 30)
mijU/
At 1 May 2010 R=Z-2£8F-H 54,769 334,998 1179 (200) - 16,466 (60,030) 347182 66,374 414,056
Deemed acoisition of non-controling PR R R (127)
interests (note 37) - - - - 33,169 - - 33,169 (33,169) -
Exercise of share options TR RE 800 4100 - - - - - 4,900 - 4,900
Conversion of convertible bonds FRTARES 15,000 45703 - - - (16,466) = 44237 = 44237
Transactions with owners BEEAETZRS 15,800 49,803 - - 33,169 (16,466) - 82,306 (33,169) 49137
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - - - (42,061) (42,061) (8,510) (50,571)
Other comprehensive income Rr2ERA
Eichange gain on translation of REBNERIBRRL
financial statements of foreign operations Bz - - 5,561 - - - - 5,561 479 6,040
Total comprehensive income for the year KEERARAEE = = 5,561 = = = (42,061)  (36,500) (8031)  (44531)
At 30 April 2011 W-E--£MA=1H 70,569 384,801 6,740 (200) 33,169 - (102,091) 392,988 25,674 418,662

* The aggregate amount of these balances of HK$322,419,000 (2010:
HK$292,413,000) in surplus is included as reserves in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the
shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued for their acquisition at the time of the Group’s reorganisation in
2001.

The other reserve represents the difference between the fair value of
consideration paid to increase the shareholding in a subsidiary, Shaanxi Aierfu
Activitissue Engineering Company Limited, and the amount of adjustment to
non-controlling interests during the year ended 30 April 2011.

G ZENEHBP A H£322419008T(ZF—F 4 :
292,413,000/ 7T) 2 BERINVEIETEAR & BIISAROR R 2 (6
A o

FRBEREARER T —FEAR - WUSEHS
NARRHHEEEAR R BB Z SN B AR M T AR
TRZARBRMEEZZHE

Hi@iER —2——FMA =+ A IEFEREmn
—FMERR (AN AEARTRARAR) 2 BHE
PINREBZ R EEFZERERERABREE I E
e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mealREeRER

For the year ended 30 April 2011 #HZE=ZT——FNA=+HILFE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FAT
Cash flows from operating activities of BERERIEREER
continuing and discontinued operations BRETBHZHERE
Loss before income tax FRETS TR B 18
Continuing operations FELE (52,521) (81,277)
Discontinued operations B4R IS E TS - (2,046)
(52,521) (83,323)
Adjustments for: KRR
Impairment of receivables written back FEULBRTE S BRI (B - (69)
Amortisation of land use rights and T AR
operating lease prepayments TR ETER R IEE I 107 167
Amortisation of other intangible assets H bR s e 15,340 15,336
Depreciation e 1,581 2,982
Dividend income for equity investments BRI E 2 B B - (29)
Interest income FEUA (2,909) (38)
Gain on disposals of property, HEWE - BE K
plant and equipment Bl paE - (85)
Loss on disposals of subsidiaries HEN B AR ZEE 35 - 1,954
Loss on financial assets at fair value RN EREBRYEZ
through profit or loss M EEZER - 20,433
Loss on disposals of available for HEEEERBEEZ
sale financial assets &18 - 108
Imputed interest on convertible bonds AR E S 2 FEER T8 1,177 8,042
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts, RITEFRRES - AR
other payables and amounts due to BRIE ] PR BT A RIFEHERR
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries AR SR AR 2 R IE 2 T2, 1415 2,791
Loss on disposals of interests in associates RERS NGl £ it - 32
Other receivables written off H At PR UK AR TE £ 5,081 -
Operating loss before working EEESBPA 2 REFE
capital changes (30,729) (31,699)
Decrease in inventories FERL 127 147
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables JEUE SERIB (M), R (3,119) 2,310
Increase in deposits, prepayments and e« BRARER
other receivables H e U AR TE 3 A0 (62,689) (2,431)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables FEHER SERIEE N CRid) 959 (681)
(Decrease)/Increase in accrued charges and FEETE A R H A FE T BRIA
other payables R, hn (8,339) 19,283
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling FEAHHT B A B FEIE AR AR SR A 2
interests of subsidiaries FRIFHE AN 1,064 3,657
Cash used in operations KEARE (102,726) (9,414)
Income taxes paid BEAETEE - (30)
Net cash used in operating activities BETEHFARSTE (102,726) (9,444)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
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For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE-ZT——FHA=tTHLFE

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
st FERT FAET
Cash flows from investing activities RETBZEERE
Dividend received from equity investments BRI B RS - 29
Interest received BUFILE 2,909 38
Proceeds from disposal of available for HERHHEMBEE
sale financial assets FSaA - 1,177
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERATFERERSREY
fair value through profit or loss W& EFTS A - 51,108
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment BAEFTRE - 130
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEDE - BER&E (28,208) (30,484)
Cash inflow from disposals of subsidiaries, HEWBATIIRERA
net of cash disposed of EHREEERS 35 - 9,512
Proceeds from disposals of associates HE B N B FTS RUE - 226
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing RE&EEE (FTH) FIBREFE
activities (25,299) 31,736
Cash flows from financing activities RETBZEERE
Proceeds from shares issued BITRID FTSF0E 4,900 128,960
Shares issue expenses paid B X RHEITHAY - (1,000)
Repayment of bank loan EBRITER - (75)
Interest paid on bank loan not wholly BERTFANBBERL
repayable within five years BITERZF B - (51)
Other interest paid EﬁﬂEHﬂm (1,415) (2,740)
Net cash generated from financing activities BE&EEEFTERSEHE 3,485 125,094
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBESEEEEZ
cash equivalents B&FHORD), (124,540) 147,386
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of SR ERRLZEIER
the year 162,499 15,113
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year F&R2BEERBELSEER 24 37,959 162,499
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE_Z——FNMA=1THILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (Revision 2001) of Cayman
Islands on 20 April 2001. The address of its registered office is P.O. Box
309, Ugland House, South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business is Suites
3101-5, 31st Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre, 108 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market (the “GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. Details of the activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the financial
statements. The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to
as the “Group” hereafter.

The financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2011 were
approved for issue by the board of directors on 22 July 2011.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements on pages 41 to 111 have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). The financial statements
also include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been used in
the preparation of these financial statements are summarised
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new
or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s financial
statements, if any, are disclosed in note 3.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis. The measurement bases are fully described in the accounting
policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results may
ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are
disclosed in note 4.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B R M 5T

For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE=ZT——FNHA=+HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEBRE(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.2 Basis of consolidation 2.2 mEHEE

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies together
with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses area also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment
on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective
dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other members of
the Group.

Business combination from 1 April 2010

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-
by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling interest
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent adjustments
to consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the
extent that they arise from new information obtained within
the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition date.
All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s interest and the non-controlling
interest are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE_Z——FNMA=1THILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

52

POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Business combination from 1 April 2010 (Cont’d)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted
for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets
or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interest is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus
the non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in
equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a
deficit balance.

Business combination prior to 1 April 2010

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities of the relevant subsidiaries
are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. The
non-controlling interests are stated at the minority’s proportion of
the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of
debt or equity securities, that the Group incurred in connected
with business combinations were capitalised as part of the cost of
the acquisition.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the non-controlling
interests in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess, and any further
losses applicable to the minority, are charged against the group’s
interest except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation to, and is able to, make additional investment to cover
the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the group’s
interest is allocated all such profits until the minority’s share of
losses previously absorbed by the Group has been recovered.

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-
controlling interests as transactions with parties external to the
Group. Disposals to non-controlling interests result in gains and
losses for the Group are recognised profit or loss. Purchases from
non-controlling interests result in goodwill, being the difference
between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of
the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B R M 5T

For the year ended 30 April 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.3

2.4

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over
which the Group has the power to control the financial and
operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries
are carried at cost less any impairment loss. The results of the
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividends received and receivable at the reporting date. All
dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.

Foreign currency translation
The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date, monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of monetary
assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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For the year ended 30 April 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

54

2.4

2.5

Foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been
converted into HK$. Assets and liabilities have been translated
into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and
expenses have been converted into HK$ at the exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average rate over the
reporting period provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate
significantly. Any differences arising from this procedure have
been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in the translation reserve in equity.

When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified from equity to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold land,
where the fair value of the building could be measured separately
from the fair value of the leasehold land at the inception of the
lease, and other items of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to write
off the cost less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:
Buildings over 25 years or the terms of

the leases, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements over the terms of the leases

Furniture and equipment 7%-25%
Computer equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 25%

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 April 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Cont'd)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment loss. Cost includes all construction expenditure and
other direct costs, including interest costs, attributable to such
projects. Cost on completed construction works are transferred
to the appropriate asset category. No deprecation is provided in
respect of construction in progress until it is available for use.

Land use rights and operating lease prepayments
Upfront payments made to acquire land held under an operating
lease are stated at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. The determination if an
arrangement is or contains a lease and the lease is an operating
lease is detailed in note 2.13. Amortisation is calculated on the
straight-line method over the term of the lease/right of use except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the time
pattern of benefits to be derived by the Group from use of the
land.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of consideration transferred and the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests over the fair value of identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceed the fair value of consideration paid, the excess
is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-
assessment.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested
annually for impairment (see note 2.17).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of
goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the amount
of gain or loss on disposal.
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56

POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.8 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and research

and development activities

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. After
initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is provided on straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Amortisation commences when the intangible assets
are available for use. The following useful lives are applied:

Trademark 15 years
Patents 15 years

Expenditure on internally developed products is capitalised if it can
be demonstrated that:

. It is technically feasible to develop the product for it to be sold;

e Adequate resources are available to complete the development;
e Thereis an intention to complete and sell the product;
e The Group is able to sell the product;

o Sale of the product will generate future economic benefits; and

e Expenditure on the project can be measured reliably.

Capitalised development costs are amortised over the periods the
Group expects to benefit from selling the products developed. The
amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Development expenditure not satisfying the above criteria and
expenditure on the research phase of internal projects are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.9 Financial assets

2. FEREHBERHE(E)
29 BBEE

The Group's accounting policies for financial assets other than
interests in subsidiaries are set out below.

Financial assets are classified into loans and receivables.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition depending on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired and where allowed and appropriate,
re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade date. When financial assets are recognised initially, they
are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at
fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction
costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments expire or are transferred and substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate and transaction cost.

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to determine
whether there is any objective evidence of impairment.
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POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont’d)

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group
about one or more of the following loss events:

—  Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

— It becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; and

—  Significant changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor.

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets include
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows from the group of financial assets.
Such observable data includes but not limited to adverse changes
in the payment status of debtors in the group and, national or local
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in
the group.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and
receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The
amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss of the period in
which the impairment occurs.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that it does
not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset exceeding
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The
amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss of the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont’d)

2. FEREHBERHE(E)
2.9 HMBAEH)

Financial assets other than trade receivables that are stated
at amortised cost, impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly. Where the recovery of trade
receivables is considered doubtful but not remote, the impairment
losses for doubtful receivables are recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery of trade
receivables is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is
written off against trade receivables directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account in respect of that receivable are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are recognised in profit
or loss.
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2.10 Inventories 210 78
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable FERKARATERFERE 2 BRIEED|
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method, and AR o AR R AR E - R m R B
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprise B2 RABIEEEME - EES T RIZ
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of BELAIFTE 2 EERA - AIREFET)
overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ZRBEEEBEP A EERMET
ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion AR MBS HERETH ©
and applicable selling expenses.
2.11 Cash and cash equivalents 21 BeRBALEEEE
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and in hand. RekReFEEBERBERITRFER
2.12 Financial liabilities 2.12 B EE

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, accrued
charges and other payables, convertible bonds and amounts due to
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All interest related
charges are recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy for borrowing costs (see note 2.19).

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.12 Financial liabilities (Cont’d)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share capital at
the option of the holder, where the number of shares that would
be issued on conversion and the value of the consideration that
would be received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain both a liability
component and an equity component.

Convertible bond issued by the Company that contain both
financial liability and equity components are classified separately
into respective liability and equity components on initial
recognition. On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing market interest
rate for similar non-convertible debts. The difference between the
proceeds of the issue of the convertible bond and the fair value
assigned to the liability component, representing the call option
for conversion of the bond into equity, is included in equity as
convertible bonds equity reserve.

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity component will
remain in equity until conversion or redemption of the bond.

When the bond is converted, the convertible bonds equity reserve
and the carrying value of the liability component at the time of
conversion, is transferred to share capital and share premium as
consideration for the shares issued. If the bond is redeemed, the
convertible bonds equity reserve is released directly to retained
profits/accumulated losses.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEBRE(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.13 Leases 213 #HE

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that
the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets
for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer
to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as being held under finance leases.
Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases, with the following exception:

— land held for own use under an operating lease, the
fair value of which cannot be measured separately from
the fair value of a building situated thereon, at the
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly
held under an operating lease (see note 2.6). For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the
lease was first entered into by the Group, or taken over
from the previous lessee.

(ii) Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease
terms except where an alternative basis is more representative
of the time pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased
assets. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or
loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rental are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined
using the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares
are deducted from share premium (net of any related income
tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly
attributable to the equity transaction.
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POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.15 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable for the sale of goods, the rendering of services and the
use by others of the Group's assets yielding interest, net of rebates
and discounts. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can
be measured reliably, revenue is recognised as follows:

Corporate service income is recognised when the services are
provided.

Sales of goods are recognised upon transfer of significant risks and
rewards of ownership to the customer. This is usually taken as the
time when the goods are delivered and the customer has accepted
the goods.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the
effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is
established.

2.16 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised
in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the
costs that they are intended to compensate. Government grants
relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are
included in non-current liabilities as deferred government grants
and are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.

2.17 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of subsidiaries, other intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment, land use rights and
operating lease prepayments and interests in subsidiaries are
subject to impairment testing.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, irrespective of
whether there is any indication that they are impaired. All other
assets are tested for impairment whenever there are indications
that the asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.17 Impairment of non-financial assets (Cont'd)

2. FEREHBERHE(E)
2.17 R AR ()

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of time value of money and the
risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent from those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually
for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business
combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro
rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less cost to sell, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods including impairment losses recognised in an interim
period. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed
if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss has been recognised.
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POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.18 Employee benefits
(i)  Retirement benefits

For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE T FHUA=+THLFE

2. FEREHBORHE(R)
218 EEEF

(i)

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a

percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer’s
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed

into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
the Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a percentage
of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension

scheme.

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits

(i)

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services

rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of

leave.

(iii)

Profit sharing and bonus plans

(iii)

Provisions for profit sharing and bonus are recognised when
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable

estimate of the obligation can be made.
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE=ZZT——FWHA=+HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEBRE(E)

POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.18 Employee benefits (Cont'd) 2.18 EERA (&)
(iv) Share-based employee compensation (iv) HUBRGZNZESHE

All share-based payment arrangements granted after
7 November 2002 and had not vested on 1 May 2005
are recognised in the financial statements. The Group
operates equity-settled share-based compensation plans for
remuneration of its employees.

All employee services received in exchange for the grant of
any share-based compensation are measured at their fair
values. These are indirectly determined by reference to the
share options awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant
date and excludes the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth
targets).

All share-based compensation is recognised as an expense
in profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions
apply, or recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the equity instruments granted vest immediately unless
the compensation qualified for recognition as asset, with a
corresponding increase in the share option reserve in equity.
If vesting conditions apply, the expense is recognised over
the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of
the number of share options expected to vest. Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of options that are expected to vest. Estimates
are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that
the number of share options expected to vest differs from
previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. After vesting date, when
the vested share options are later forfeited or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits/
accumulated losses.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

66

POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.19 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition, construction or
production of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period
of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualified
asset when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended
use or sale are complete.

2.20 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, tax authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit or
loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective
tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to
be carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing
taxable temporary differences, will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused
tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.20 Accounting for income taxes (Cont'd)

2. FEREHBERHE(E)
2.20 Fi8BL2 B3t T % (M)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
difference arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset
realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if,
and only if,

(@ The Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i)  different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

68

POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.21 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group’s business components and
for their review of the performance of those components. The
business components in the internal financial information reported
to the executive directors are determined following the Group's
major product and service lines.

The Group has identified tissue engineering — production and sale
of tissue engineering products as reportable segment.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment
results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs, except that:

- finance costs
- income tax

—  corporate income and expenses which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any operating
segment

are not included in arriving at the operating results of the operating
segment.

Segment assets include all assets except corporate assets which are
not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating
segment are not allocated to a segment, which primarily applies to
the Group's headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are not
directly attributable to the business activities of any operating
segment and are not allocated to a segment. These include
deferred tax liabilities and liabilities incurred for financing rather
than operating purposes.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.22 Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered
to be related to the Group if:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the
Group;

the Group and the party are subject to common control;

the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;

the party is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family member of
such an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint
control or significant influence of such individuals;

the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i)
or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals; or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the
benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

2.23 Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a clearly distinguishable component of
the Group's business that has been disposed of or is classified as
held for sale, which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations of the Group.
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 #HZE=ZT——FNA=+HILFE

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSS

During the year, the Group has adopted all the new and amended
HKFRSs which are first effective for the reporting year and relevant to
the Group. Except as explained below, the adoption of these new and
amended HKFRSs did not result in material changes to the Group’s
accounting policies.

HKAS 17 (Amendments) — Leases

As part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009, HKAS 17 has been
amended in relation to the classification of leasehold land. Before the
amendment to HKAS 17, the Group was required to classify leasehold
land as operating leases and to present leasehold land as prepaid
lease payments in the statement of financial position. The amendment
to HKAS 17 has removed such a requirement and required that the
classification of leasehold land should be based on the general principles
set out in HKAS 17, that is, whether or not substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of a leased asset have been transferred
to the lessee. The Group concluded that the classification of such leases as
operating leases continues to be appropriate.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) — Business Combinations and HKAS
27 (Revised) - Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

The revised accounting policies are described in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements, which are effective prospectively for
business combinations effected in financial periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009. Changes in HKFRS 3 include the valuation of non-
controlling interest, the accounting for transaction costs, the initial
recognition and subsequent measurement of a contingent consideration
and business combinations achieved in stages. These changes impact
the amount of goodwill and the results in the period that an acquisition
occurs and future results. The adoption of revised HKFRS 3 has had no
impact to the consolidated financial statements as there has been no
business combination transaction during the year.

The revised HKAS 27 requires that a change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as a transaction
with owners in their capacity as owners, accordingly, such transactions
are recognised within equity. When control is lost and any remaining
interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. The Group increased its ownership interest in
one of its subsidiaries without change of control during the year ended
30 April 2011 and the details are set out in note 37 to the financial
statements. Under the previous standard, gain on deemed acquisition of
non-controlling interests of HK$33,169,000 would have been recognised
in profit or loss and loss per share would be HK0.135 cents.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSS

(Cont’d)
At the date of this report, certain new and amended HKFRSs have been

published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by
the Group.

The directors of the Company anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period
beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. The directors
of the Company are currently assessing the impact of the new and
amended HKFRSs upon initial application. So far, the directors of the
Company have preliminarily concluded that the initial application
of these HKFRSs will not result in material financial impact on the
consolidated financial statements. Information on new and amended
HKFRSs that are expected to have an impact on the Group's accounting
policies is provided below.

HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

This standard is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013. Under HKFRS 9, financial assets are classified into
financial assets measured at fair value or at amortised cost depending
on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. Fair value
gains or losses will be recognised in profit or loss except for those non-
trade equity investments, which the entity will have a choice to recognise
the gains and losses in other comprehensive income. HKFRS 9 carries
forward the recognition and measurement requirements for financial
liabilities from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities that are designated
at fair value through profit or loss, where the amount of change in fair
value attributable to change in credit risk of that liability is recognised
in other comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in
HKAS 39 for derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

3. RAVETRISUEIERT 2 BRI E R

HER (&)
RAHER - B THTRGET DM BRE
RABBFERER - AAEELRR TR -

ARARERE - AEBEBRBALRBHEK
Rz BEMERAMAERRSTEE - K
NEEERIEN G ERERHT REETEE
MHMEL 2B - 25 ARARESEL
2Tt R ERERL ST B RS ER
B EHEAMBBRRENENMBEE - B
e B ARE S IRRBREE 2 RE
BRI B BMBIME LA 2 ERHE T XX -

ERMBHREEAER -SRI A
WELRNR-_FE—=F—A-HEZKRAHK

BETHMAN - RIBRBUBRELENE9
5% REESERARTERIABHKAGT
BZeMEBEENANERERESREE LR
BAREMEEZENBRLRERTHE - R T E
2 EIERNIERER - RN ETIEE
SEARE - BRAESENEM2EKRRER
W MR - BAEMBHREENEIFERE
BRI EANEREReR B ERAB NS
BE - B BRERATESIRZ @R A &R
o ZABEEERREFERENIFEEDS
BENEMEEKEER  RIFSEHEERS
FHERC o WS - BEUBMEENFEISRRER
ABEFERIEIRZRTE - BEERSREE
kE@as -

TEEMBEBENBZERAT 2011FFR N



Notes to the Financial Statements
S i R B 5

72

For the year ended 30 April 2011

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the impairment of trade and
other receivables on a regular basis. This estimate is based on the credit
history of its customers or debtors and current market conditions.
Management reassesses the impairment of trade and other receivables
at the reporting date.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2.17. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined
based on fair value less costs to sell calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates about future cash flows and discount rates.

In the process of estimating expected future cash flows management
makes assumptions about future revenues and profits. In the absence
of the actual data of the Group’s revenue and profit from tissue
engineering operation for the year, the assumptions about future
revenues are mainly based on the current market demand of tissue
engineering products in the PRC, the current supply of the similar
products in the market, the estimated utilisation of the Group’s
production capacity and the management’s current assessment of the
economic outlook. The unit selling price is assumed to remain constant
throughout the forecasted period. The assumptions about future profits
are mainly based on the available market data of the profit margin ratio
of companies engaged in the tissue engineering industry in the global
market. As these assumptions relate to future events and circumstances,
the actual results may vary and may cause a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of goodwill within the next financial year.

Determining the appropriate discount rate involves estimating the
appropriate adjustment for market risk and for asset specific risk factors.
The management has taken consideration of risk-free rate (reference to
the yield of the long term bond issued in the PRC), the cost of equity and
debt of the companies within the tissue engineering industry and other
possible risk factors such as the new commencement of the Group’s
production facilities in the near future and the market capitalisation of
the Group in estimating the discount rate. Details of the estimates of the
recoverable amounts of cash generating units containing goodwill are
disclosed in note 20.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. BARETHETH R E (&)
JUDGEMENTS (Cont'd)
Estimated impairment of other intangible assets st HEEEERE
The carrying values of other intangible assets are reviewed for RAEERIFR KR AEMEREE 2 REE R 82
impairment when there is any indication that the carrying value of other A Re HEMELEEROBEETRE
intangible assets may not be recoverable. The Group considered that no iz o ARERR - BTIEEEAEERER
fact and circumstances occurred which would suggest that the carrying FIAE A & E A AR TEE 0] e iR R H AT 4k (el
amount of other intangible assets may exceed its recoverable amount. o
5. REVENUE AND TURNOVER 5. WERkEXEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operations Consolidated
BEREEY BRIEEER Re
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

“EB——§ |ZT-%F |ZE-—F | Z2ZF |ZB——§ | ZT-ZF
HK$'000 | HK$'000 | HK$'000 | HK$'000 | HKS000 | HK$'000
TEr FET FER FAET FER FAET

Corporate services ¥R - - - 11,009 - 11,009
Sale of tissue engineering products  $4& 44 T2 R 2,621 30 - - 2,621 30
2,621 30 - 11,009 2,621 11,039
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors have identified the Group's tissue engineering as
operating segment as further described in note 2.21.

The operating segment is monitored and strategic decisions are made on

the basis of adjusted segment operating results.

For the year ended 30 April 2011

6. DEPEFR

RIBERED
R VEHRE

BHE-T——

FHA=+HILEFE

HTEFERRAEEABIERRLEDE
WHAEE2. 21550

B ik S s ot
R EHEERZEEDBERE
b

Tissue engineering

HBTRE
2011 2010
—EB——F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Revenue Wz
— From external customers —REINAREP 2,621 30
Reportable segment revenue AT BRI 2,621 30
Reportable segment loss (Continuing BRI BEE(FELCEEE)
operations) (32,154) (31,513)
Amortisation of land use rights and operating -+ 3 {5 PR IR AR A TH S TR N R T £
lease prepayments 107 127
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hib R G E 15,340 15,336
Depreciation e 987 178
Interest income FBUWA 2,899 18
Reportable segment assets BATFHRIHEE 340,279 413,266
Additions to non-current segment assets during  FRIEREB D HEEZIRE
the year 27,983 30,147
Reportable segment liabilities ATHBFITNERE 75,423 80,524

The totals presented for the Group’s operating segment reconcile to the
Group's key financial figures as presented in the financial statements as

REEZED

AR ZI R B A R B R [ 0 B T R

RIVREBESR M SBIEE AR T

follows:

2011 2010
—EB——F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET

Reportable segment revenue (Continuing AT RO PUEE G ELCLER)
operations) 2,621 30
Corporate services (Discontinued operations) DERE(ERILEEETR) - 11,009
Group revenue EE W 2,621 11,039
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HE—ZE——FNA=1THILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’'d) 6. DEERE)

2011 2010
—=E——fF —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Reportable segment loss /BT kD HEE (32,154) (31,513)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEWB AT - 743
Loss on financial assets at fair value through AT ERNERYE TR EEBE
profit or loss - (20,433)
Loss on disposals of interests in associates HERE A AR 2 BB - (32)
Unallocated corporate income ROBEBZEWA 1 109
Unallocated corporate expenses AOBDERET (17,786) (19,369)
Finance costs MBER (2,592) (10,782)
Loss before income tax and discontinued BRETISH R B AR IEAC & 5 R 1E
operations (52,521) (81,277)
2011 2010
—E——F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Reportable segment assets BTHRHMOEE 340,279 413,266
Other corporate assets BEMRaEE 177,506 151,239
Group assets SEBEE 517,785 564,505
Reportable segment liabilities ATHRHHHAE 75,423 80,524
Convertible bonds AR E S - 43,060
Deferred taxation IEEFIE 23,143 25,093
Other corporate liabilities HEMRRIEE 557 1,772
Group liabilities E@EAaE 99,123 150,449
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’'d)

76

The Group's revenue from external customers and its non-current assets

are divided into the following geographical areas:

For the year ended 30 April 2011
6. THRPERK(
R ST

Revenue from
external customers

BE"Z——FHUA=+THLFE

&)

REFERBIINAZEPO G R EIFRBDEER

Non-current assets

REMREF R FREBEE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——-F | —T-Z2F| ZB——F | —=-ITF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET T THET THET
Hong Kong B - 9,976 164,320 164,410
The PRC (domicile) PR (- REATAE) 2,621 1,063 240,528 225,483
2,621 11,039 404,848 389,893
The geographical location of customers is based on the location at which BEFE B IR BRATIR Mt IR R E M

the services were provided or the goods delivered. The geographical
location of the non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
asset. The Company is an investment holding company where the Group
has majority of its operation and workforce in the PRC, and therefore,
the PRC is considered as the Group’s country of domicile for the purpose

of the disclosures as required by HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

FINANCE COSTS

Continuing operations

7. BREA

Discontinued operations

ZEE D o FERBEE 2B TRIBEEM
FEHE D - ARAA—FEREZERAR - WA
SEARZHEEREHNETE - Bt - 7 E
WRBERBEEM MG ERESRKE 27
B IMIEMIREE < AEE 2 TR -

Consolidated

HEREER DAL REXK =®E
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“E--F | ZZ-%F | ZB——-§ | 22 | ZF-—-F | ZT-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT THET FAT THET FAT
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts, $F17ERRES -
other payables and amounts Hity N ERIA R
due to non-controlling interests of FERHERR
subsidiaries: SRR RIS IR Z
FE:
Wholly repayable within five years ARTERZHEER 1,415 2,740 - = 1,415 2,740
Not wholly repayable within BERRFANZHER
five years - = - 51 - 51
Imputed interest on convertible bonds AT ES 2 EFH &
(note 28) (Hi228) 1,177 8,042 - - 1,177 8,042
2,592 10,782 - 51 2,592 10,833
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HE—ZE——FNA=1THILFE

8. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. KRATBHIAIEE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Consolidated

BESEER BAILEEEHE &
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
“2—-F | Z2-%F | ZB--% | 5% | IB—-F | ZT-%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TET FEr TET TEr TEL
Loss before income tax has been BRATEHATEE
arrived at after charging/(crediting): B/ (GEA)
THIBE
Auditor's remuneration 2 GiliEa

Audit services BE RS 527 498 - - 527 498

Other services Hit R - 100 - - - 100
Amortisation of land use rights THEREREE

and operating lease prepayments THERNFIEREH 107 127 - 40 107 167
Amortisation of other intangible assets BT ErE# 15,340 15,336 - - 15,340 15,336
Depreciation e 1,581 2,804 - 178 1,581 2,982
Exchange difference, net EREBECFE) 1,252 Al - (83) 1,252 (12)
(Gain)/Loss on disposals of property, HENE BELRE

plant and equipment (Wezk) /B8 - (92) - 7 - (85)
Operating lease rentals in respect WRENEEENERS

of office premises 3,466 4,486 - 545 3,466 5,031
Research and development costs eSS 6,971 7,484 - - 6,971 7,484
Employee benefit expense (including EERFIRX (BEESHE

directors' emoluments (note 9)) (Hi:£9)) (Bt 10)

(note 10) 12,820 12,516 - 2,970 12,820 15,486
Other receivables written off Hib R i 5,081 - - - 5,081 -
Dividend income from equity investments  FRIERZ 7 IR 8 U A - Q) - (27) - (29)
Impairment of receivables written back Bl EUKERIEE - = - (69) - (69)
(Gain)/Loss on disposals of subsidiaries HEHBRRLZ (W) /

(note 35) ER(H#35) - (743) - 2,697 - 1,954
Loss on disposals of available HEAH-HENKEE

for sale financial assets BB - 108 - - - 108
Interest income FlEMA (2,909) (35) - 3) (2,909) (38)
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9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND SENIOR

78

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE"Z——FHUA=+THLFE

9. EXSNREREEENE

Contribution
to defined
Salaries and contribution
Fees allowances plans Total
EFRMARK
we FEREM FHEZMHR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET
Year ended 30 April 2011 BEr—=——F
B=tHLEE
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Tin Ka Pak* HAxRsx4E* - 240 12 252
Mr. Dai Yumin LS EE - 1,440 12 1,452
Mr. Luo Xian Ping BEFEE - 1,440 12 1,452
Dr. Gao Gunter SaEE L - 240 12 252
Mr. Yang Zheng Guo 5 IFB A - 533 26 559
Independent non-executive BAFHITES
directors
Mr. Lui Tin Nang SN2y 100 - - 100
Mr. Cheung Siu Chung* SRIK RS A * 100 - - 100
Mr. Sze Chin Hung MERRRST A 100 - - 100
Non-executive director FHITESE
Mr. Wong Sai Hung Wit 715 - 12 727
Mr. Xu Jifeng KREBEE(R=ZF—FF
(resigned on 3 September 2010) J1.H=HEHT) 34 - - 34
Mr. Sze Cheung Pang BEAEMS 55 A4 240 - - 240
Mr. Ma Long Vvt 809 - - 809
2,098 3,893 86 6,077

* Resigned on 11 May 2011.
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9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

Notes to the Financial Statements
B R M 5T

For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE-ZT——FHA=tTHLFE

9. EXSNEREEEME(F)

Contribution

to defined
Salaries and contribution
Fees allowances plans Total
TEFAMR
ok e MoER BEIPALTA &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHT FHIT
Year ended 30 April 2010 BE-Z-ZF
MA=t+HLEE
Executive directors HiITES
Mr. Tin Ka Pak AXRALE - 280 12 292
Mr. Dai Yumin HEHSLE - 1,440 14 1,454
Mr. Luo Xian Ping BETRE - 1,440 14 1,454
Dr. Gao Gunter AHEEL(RZFENEF
(appointed on 15 July 2009) + A+ A AEZ(T) - 193 8 201
Mr. Yang Zheng Guo BEBSER-E—FF
(appointed on 11 March 2010) ZA+—HEZE) - 34 = 34
Ms. Yeung Sau Han BABRE (R —FZNEF
(resigned on 4 December 2009) T =AM A ) - 938 8 946
Ms. Yu Sau Lai REBUL(R-_FENF
(resigned on 4 December 2009) += AP AEE) - 150 8 158
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Mr. Lui Tin Nang EP NGt 99 - - 99
Mr. Cheung Siu Chung FIAEE 99 - - 99
Mr. Sze Chin Hung MEREE (R -_FEZENF
(appointed on 4 December 2009) + = AHEZT) 41 = = 41
Mr. Lam Raymond Shiu Cheung HKEEE R =_EZENF
(resigned on 26 June 2009) NAZTNAEE) 15 = = 15
Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing WEBLE (R -_EENEF
(resigned on 4 December 2009) T = A AEE) 59 - - 59
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Wong Sai Hung EESE 711 - 12 723
Mr. Xu Jifeng BREBEE(R-FENEF
(appointed on 15 July 2009) AT AAEZE) 79 - - 79
Mr. Sze Cheung Pang BEEBEE(R=FENEF
(appointed on 4 December 2009) + = A HEZT) 98 = = 98
Mr. Ma Long BEAEKR=_F—F
(appointed on 11 March 2010) ZA+—HEZET) 83 = = 83
1,284 4,475 76 5,835
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE_Z——FNMA=1THILFE

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2010: Nil).

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office.

Employees’ emoluments

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the year included four (2010: four) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. In 2011, the emoluments of
the remaining one (2010: one) individual were as follows:

EERGREEENE (H)

FAMBEEENELARERECTANS 2L
(Z2—FF : #|)-

AEFETEANESNEMHME - FRIAR
SEN AR KB 2 ZEY KR E -

BEME
ARBENEEBBHFALRENE(—F—F
FmE)EF - AWERBR LR - 5%
T BTA(CE-TE A)A
SRS

2011 2010

—E——F —Z=—TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Salaries and other benefits e REAMER 620 537
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RKEFIET 2K 12 12
632 549

The emoluments of the highest paid non-director individuals fell within
the following bands:

WIHEFHT=E A TR ST AT E A
K

Number of individuals

AE
2011 2010
—E——F —T—TE
Nil = HK$1,000,000 £ — 1,000,000 7T 1 1
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HE—ZE——FNA=1THILFE

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 10. EEEFBAX(BRERESHE)
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

Discontinued

Continuing operations operations Consolidated
BELERYS BRIEREEY e
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

=g-—% | 2324 |=%——F | Z2-2F |=%——F | “2-3F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHn | TEn| Fm| Tan| Fax| Tan

Wages and salaries TERF® 11,182 11,644 - 2,647 11,182 14,291
Pension costs — defined contribution RASRK A — T8

plans G2l 940 308 - 242 940 550

Other staff benefits Hih 8 TEF 698 564 - 81 698 645

12,820 12,516 - 2,970 12,820 15,486

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT 1. FiEHE R

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided as the Group has no F R AR SR B N I AR ] JE AR B K]+ Rl A

assessable profits for the year. No taxation on overseas profits has been FHREMBAENEH - AREINK B A RARE

provided in the financial statements as the overseas subsidiaries did not JE 3 % BRERAE ] JEER B F1) » R 7 R 3 A%

generate any assessable profits for the year (2010: Nil). BBINGEF 2 HIBELBE( T —FF  |) -

Discontinued

Continuing operations operations Consolidated
BELERY BRIEREEY )
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

=g-——# | “T-TF |=§——F | “F-TF |=%——F | “F-IF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FRT | TR | x| Ten| TFEn| Ten

Hong Kong Profits Tax BREMEH
Over provision in prior years FEEERE - (2,000) - - - (2,000)
- (2,000) - - - (2,000)
Deferred taxation (note 29) EEFLIE (H17£29) (1,950) (1,958) - - (1,950) (1,958)
(1,950) (3,958) - = (1,950) (3,958)
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE_Z——FNMA=1THILFE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Cont’d)

Reconciliation between income tax credit and accounting loss at

1. FisHiE R (&)

BRERREAEZMEHEL Rt ER Y
BRI

applicable tax rates:

2011 2010
—B——F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss before income tax BRATEHATE R
Continuing operations BEREER (52,521) (81,277)
Discontinued operations BRI EET - (2,046)
(52,521) (83,323)
Tax at Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% BREBMEHHE16.5%
(2010: 16.5%) (ZZ—ZF 1 16.5%):TENHE (8,665) (13,748)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries RREEE 2 B AR TRRENTE
operating in the PRC 505 402
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR AERNR 2 ARG E
for tax purpose 6,229 8,587
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose BERBIRANTIS 2 (19) (596)
Tax effect of prior year unrecognised tax losses EEA L FRERTIEEE
utilised Gopihy ez - (431)
Tax effect of current year tax losses not recognised 7R & R AT B E BOBIIS L - 3,505
Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised — REERE i Z TR IS E - 323
Over provision in prior years BT FE RS - (2,000)
Income tax credit FiEHiER (1,950) (3,958)

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

12. CRIEREEKE

— ==

REER

AERANBEERRBF R

82

On 8 June 2009, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with Hop Asia Holdings Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr.
Lo Wah Wai, a former director of the Company, in relation to the
disposal of its entire equity interests in its subsidiaries, BMI Corporate
Services Limited, IBC Corporate Services Limited, BMI Professional
Translation Services Limited, BMI Technologies Limited, BMI Finance
Limited, BMI Nominees Limited, BMI Strategic Marketing Limited, BM
Union Communication Limited and BMI Consultants Limited (which
possesses the 100% equity interest in BMI Corporate Advisory (Shanghai)
Limited and BMI Consultants (Shenzhen) Limited (“Corporate Services
Companies”). The disposal was completed on 30 October 2009.

China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited Annual Report 2011
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE=ZT——FNHA=+HILFE

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Cont'd) 12. ERIEREEK(E)

The operations of Corporate Services Companies represented the entire PERBRARBEEBEARELERE
business segment of corporate services of the Group and therefore they BEXBHEH - Al - REFEVBEREED
were presented as discontinued operations in the 2010 Group accounts ESRFFELEZIERBDEERCRILKEEE
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Bl ZEEBEEWINRA—E—TFAEHE
Discontinued Operations”. BRE 2 BRI -

An analysis of the results and cash flows of the discontinued operations ERIEEEEKIIRNGE AR RRREEH
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and ’f% WEERBRSRATAT -

the consolidated statement of cash flows are as follows:

Corporate services

TR ZERRTS
2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FHT
Revenue g 11,009
Other income HUA 113
Expenses FX (10,471)
Profit before income tax from discontinued BRI A SRR PTAS B AT A
operations 651
Income tax expense FiSBiFX 0
Profit after income tax from discontinued BRI E R TIR PR S T8 A
operations 651
Loss on disposals of subsidiaries HEEB R AR EE (2,697)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations — ARQABHEA AL R IEE L EKFAER
attributable to owners of the Company (2,046)
Operating cash inflows MEBESRA 2,041
Investing cash inflows REREMRA 56
Financing cash outflows MERE AL (126)
Total cash inflows Be AR 1,97
There is no discontinued operation for the year ended 30 April 2011. %Z?;_?——iﬂﬂ =T HIEFRIEDRIE
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13. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

COMPANY

Of the consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$42,061,000 (2010: HK$64,569,000), a loss of HK$13,848,000
(2010: HK$24,655,000) has been dealt with in the financial statements

of the Company.

14. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year

(2010: Nil).

15. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

(a) From continuing and discontinued operations

For the year ended 30 April 2011 #HE-ZT——
13. XR A B ABLER

FHA=+HILEFE

RARG A AL S 842,061,000 %8
T(=ZZT—Z4 : 64,569,000/87C) F © A
13,848,000/ 7T ( == —Z4F : 24,655,000

TO)ZBEEF ARR R Z BB

14. RE

EFVTEFRNFARS(ZE—2F &) -

15. BRREE
D A A AL AN [ e 5 1R T R AR
AT EREE :

(a) REFERCKRILREXK

2011 2010
—EB——F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of  FUAGTEGREREEZ
the Company for the purpose of basic loss 2 BHEH A E1GEE EiE
per share (42,061) (64,569)
2011 2010
—E——F —T-IZF
‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Number of shares ROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  FIATEESREREE 2 L BRIMETHEH
for the purpose of basic loss per share 6,578,579 3,414,239
No diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company BRBETBRAGREELE - St

was presented for the years ended 30 April 2011 and 2010 as the
potential ordinary shares had anti-dilutive effect.

mE7EE—

BEER -
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15. LOSS PER SHARE (Cont'd)
(b) From continuing operations

(o)

For the year ended 30 April 2011

(b)
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from

continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company is

based on the following data and the denominators detailed in (a)

above:

BHE-T—

15. BREE (&)

REFESEXER

FHA=+THLEFE

RABBAFE AEHRBFEREER
ZEBBREAFEEBEIRBATERNR
FIR EXQ@BZAHEE

2011 2010
—E——F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of  FLAGTEFREKREEZ A7)
the Company for the purpose of basic loss %A AEEEEEE
per share (42,061) (64,569)
Less: Loss for the year attributable to B AR EEE AERREE L
owners of the Company KEXEBFEBBIE12)
from discontinued operations (note 12) - (2,046)
Loss for the year attributable to owners of — FIAETE 5k BB KL 2R TR
the Company for the purpose of basic loss  EZREIE 2 AN A THEAE A
per share from continuing operations E(REEEE (42,061) (62,523)

No diluted loss per share from continuing operations attributable
to owners of the Company was presented for the years ended 30
April 2010 and 2011 as the potential ordinary shares had anti-
dilutive effect.

From discontinued operations (c)
For the year ended 30 April 2010, basic loss per share from the
discontinued operations attributable to owners of the Company

was HK0.060 cents per share, based on the loss for the year

ended 30 April 2010 attributable to owners of the Company from
discontinued operations of HK$2,046,000 and the denominators

detailed in (a) above.

No diluted loss per share from discontinued operations attributable
to owners of the Company was presented for the year ended 30
April 2010 as the potential ordinary shares had anti-dilutive effect.

No basic and diluted loss per share from the discontinued
operations attributable to owners of the Company was presented
for the year ended 30 April 2011 as there was no discontinued
operation for the year ended 30 April 2011.

TEEMBEBENKZERARA 2011458

HREBELER AR REETE - futir
EE2IHE_T—TFER-_F——FMA
=tHILFEEARRRAE ABLRASE
ISR SRR -

RECKRIREETE

HE-_ZT-ZTFNA=Z+tHLEE &
RABEAEAEBEREERIEREEL 2
BREARNEERBS0.06051L « THiRE
RAAREANEEHZE-_ZS—ZTFNA
=T HIEFERABRIECEEE 2 BB
2,046,000 7T R FFHIR X (a)B 2z o &

.
=15
u“»rr— °

mNEE TR AR RIEZE © Rt
BE2NBE-_T-TFMA=TRALFE
RRBRHEEAREREER LEEERZ
SREERE

BERBE_T——FUA=THLFEL
BORIRERER MW ER2IIBE—
Z——FMOA=THIEFEARRAEEA
EIERECRIEEEXR 2 BRERNE
SEEE -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

86

For the year ended 30 April 2011

BHE-T——

16. W% - BMENRE

FHA=+HILEFE

The Group &
Leasehold  Furniture and Computer Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
B HENEEE HFARRG EkEn RE EEIR fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TEL TE#R TEL TAL TEL
At 1 May 2009 R-ZEAERA-A
Cost KA 2,505 2,075 2,730 2483 2,354 5,068 17,215
Accumulated depreciation ZEhE (189) (1,028) (937) (1,603) (887) - (4,644)
Net book amount REFE 2,316 1,047 1,793 830 1,467 5,068 12,571
Year ended 30 April 2010 BE-S-ZEMA=1H
LEE
Opening net book amount HEmSE 2316 1,047 1793 880 1,467 5,068 12,571
Exchange differences EREE 3 - 5 1 3 25 37
Additions NE - 250 618 129 3278 26,209 30,484
Transfer v (46) - 3,726 78 - (3,758) -
Disposals il = - = ) (38) = (45)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 35) HENBARME35) (1,603) (334) (334) (534) (121) = (2,926)
Depreciation g (36) (963) (731) (378) (874) = (2,982)
Closing net book amount BAREFE 634 - 5,077 169 3,715 27,544 37,139
At 30 April 2010 R-Z-ZEMA=1H
Cost KA 634 = 5518 322 4,065 27,544 38,083
Accumulated depreciation ZEHITE - - (441) (153) (350) - (944)
Net book amount FEOFE 634 = 5077 169 3,715 27,544 37,139
Year ended 30 April 2011 BE-Z--£mA=tA
LFE
Opening net book amount HEmEE 634 - 5,077 169 3,715 27,544 37,139
Exchange differences ERES 36 - 260 4 79 1,538 1917
Additions AE - - 6,394 Il 193 21,550 28,208
Transfer 3 - - (24) 24 - - -
Depreciation g - - (519) (112) (950) = (1,581)
Closing net book amount HREAEE 670 - 11,188 156 3,037 50,632 65,683
At 30 April 2011 R-g--FmA=1R
Cost AR 670 - 12,216 457 4373 50,632 68,348
Accumulated depreciation 2:HFE - - (1,028) (301) (1,336) - (2,665)
Net book amount REFE 670 - 11,188 156 3,037 50,632 65,683
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For the year ended 30 April 2011

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)
As at 30 April 2010 and 2011, the Group’s buildings are situated in the
PRC, which are held under medium-term leases.

17.

16. ¥13% - BEKRE (&)

BE-ZT——FHA=tTHLFE

RZE—ZFR_T——FWMA=+H K%
B ZBFMNHE - HRETHEERE -

The Company PN/
Furniture and Computer
equipment equipment Total
CENET e &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Year ended 30 April 2011 Bz-—2——&
WA=+HLFE
Additions NE 2 15 17
Depreciation nE - - -
Closing net book amount HRRETE 2 15 17
At 30 April 2011 R-B——f£mA=+H
Cost AR 2 15 17
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE - - -
Net book amount BRERE 2 15 17

LAND USE RIGHTS AND OPERATING LEASE 17. tifE AR KEEHERFIE
PREPAYMENTS

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER BT
Opening net carrying amount HRAIBR T FE 4,962 8,645
Exchange differences ER R 277 23
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 35) HEMB AR (A7£35) - (3,539)
Annual charges of prepaid lease payment BENEeZFELH (107) (167)
Closing net carrying amount HAREREFE 5,132 4,962

The Group'’s land use rights and operating lease prepayments represent
up-front payments to acquire interests in the usage of lands situated in
the PRC, which are held under medium-term leases.

AREE 2 L b e AR R 2R ETANFIRER
B IAMERLN TRz (AR BHEERR
FA)ZTAX A -
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18.

19.

88

For the year ended 30 April 2011

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

18. RIB AR 2’ E

BE-Z——FHUA=+THLFE

2011 and 2010
S
—E-EF

HK$'000
TAT

Unlisted shares, at cost JEEMRL - IRRAE

200

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 30 April 2011 are set
out in note 37.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

ARFR-B-—FEA=STAZEEMER

AIFHIRENBREST -

19. FEW,~(FEWR) B B 2 B) SRR

2011 2010

—ET——F TE—TF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Amounts due from subsidiaries A NGB 412,993 273,723
Less: Allowance for impairment W R ERME (42,397) (42,397)
370,596 231,326

Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited Annual Report 2011
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE—ZT——FMHA=1THILFE

20. GOODWILL

This arose from the acquisition of FD(H) Investments Limited and its
subsidiaries, which are engaged in the production and sales of tissue
engineering skin related products. The net carrying amount of goodwill
can be analysed as follows:

20. &

B2 HAUREEFD (H) Investments Limited &
WEBAR(RBAEREEAGTREEEREE
)FTE - AR ZEMFEAIDTAT

2011 2010
—E——fF TE-ZF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
At beginning of the year F1)
Gross carrying amount HEREE 141,310 141,310
Accumulated impairment ZEHRIAE - =
Net carrying amount BREFE 141,310 141,310
Net carrying amount at beginning of the year FY 2 EEFE 141,310 141,310
Impairment losses REEE - -
Net carrying amount at end of the year FRZREFE 141,310 141,310
At end of the year FIR
Gross carrying amount “ARE(E 141,310 141,310
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE - -
Net carrying amount IREVFE 141,310 141,310

The recoverable amounts for the cash-generating unit of tissue
engineering was determined based on fair value less costs to sell
calculations using discounted cash flow technique, covering detailed
five-year budget plans, followed by an extrapolation of expected cash
flows with no growth. The pre-tax discount rate used for fair value less
cost to sell calculation is 16%, which reflects specific risks relating to the
relevant cash-generating unit.

Apart from the considerations described above in determining the
fair value less costs to sell of the cash-generating unit, the Group’s
management is not currently aware of any other probable changes
that would necessitate changes in their key assumptions. However, the
estimate of recoverable amount of the Group’s cash generating units is
particularly sensitive to the discount rate applied.

HRT R HeEE BN REIEEIRE
ERTERCREENFERHEERAAERE
o ORE-BEFNECAFRENE - WIRTE
REBABARSRE - D FERHEEXAE
AR ER16% @ REEBARELSE M2
(&R R o

RETRSEABUATEBRBEERN AL
EERARN  AEBEZEEEREL T MEE
MEMTE Y 8 CEEEERETER
&AM AEERSELEMATKEISE L
EETE PR Z IR R BEUR -
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE_Z——FNMA=1THILFE

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. HthEEEE
Trademark Patents Total
[i5E=d =7 &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAxT FET FET
At 1 May 2009 R-ZEZhFEHEA—H
Cost AR 79,983 149,050 229,033
Accumulated amortisation St (2,665) (4,694) (7,359)
Net book amount FREFE 77,318 144,356 221,674
Year ended 30 April 2010 BE—=—=F
MA=+HLEE
Opening net book amount HRWIRREFE 77,318 144,356 221,674
Exchange differences EN =xE - 144 144
Amortisation s (5,333) (10,003) (15,336)
Closing net book amount HRRBREFE 71,985 134,497 206,482
At 30 April 2010 R-z—=F
mWA=+H
Cost %N 79,983 149,209 229,192
Accumulated amortisation S T (7,998) (14,712) (22,710)
Net book amount BREFE(E 71,985 134,497 206,482
Year ended 30 April 2011 BE-Z2——¢F
WA=t+HLFE
Opening net book amount BRYIERTE FE 71,985 134,497 206,482
Exchange differences ERER 2 1,579 1,581
Amortisation By (5,337) (10,003) (15,340)
Closing net book amount HARBE T FE 66,650 126,073 192,723
At 30 April 2011 R=-B——F
mWA=+H
Cost (BN 79,985 151,066 231,051
Accumulated amortisation s (13,335) (24,993) (38,328)
Net book amount REFE 66,650 126,073 192,723
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For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE-ZT——FHA=tTHLFE

22. INVENTORIES 22. 78
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Raw materials EM R 170 348
Finished goods SR m 51 -
221 348

23.

TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,

23. EWEZERIE - #€ -~ FEARE

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES R E i EURBRIE
2011 2010
—E——F —E—TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables FEUE 5 RR1E 3,142 8
Deposits b 18,347 1,680
Prepayments TaftFRIE 256 421
Loan receivable (note) FEARE KAL) 39,068 =
Other receivables HAb YRS 13,944 9,641
71,615 11,742

Note: Hat -

During the year, the Group granted a loan of RMB30 million to a third party with
a maturity period of four months and interest bearing at 24% per annum. This
loan receivable was fully repaid after the reporting date.

REAR  AEER-ZE=FREARKFET - BH
MEAZER - FHER24E - RARE B HRZIBERK

ERE 2 HEE -

TEEMBEBENBZERAT 2011FFR N
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE_Z——FNMA=1THILFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,

92

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Cont'd)

23. EWEZERIE - €~ FEARE

K Eftb fE U B 78 (4]

Ageing analysis of trade receivables, as at 30 April 2011, based on sales RZT——FHWA=+H  EBRESRERE
invoice date and net of provisions, is as follows: BHERMBRBEER ZREITAT ¢

2011 2010

—B——F —T-TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FET

0 - 60 days 0—60X 3,118 -

61— 90 days 61—90% - 23

Over 90 days 90K E 24 =

3,142 23

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days to its customers.

The carrying value of trade receivables is considered as reasonable
approximation of their fair value. Impairment of trade receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtors and default
or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade
receivable is impaired. All of the Group’s trade receivables have been
reviewed for indicators of impairment.

The Group did not hold any collateral as security or other credit

enhancements over the impaired trade receivables, whether determined
on an individual or collective basis.

China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited Annual Report 2011
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WE - EATENRBRANEE B REESIZE
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FEWE ZRIEHIRRE - BEFARSERETE
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RIS RR MRt

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,

For the year ended 30 April 2011 HE—ZE——FNA=1THILFE

23. EWEZERIE - €~ FEARE

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Cont'd)

In addition, some of the unimpaired trade receivables are past due as at
the reporting date. Ageing analysis of trade receivables not impaired is as

K Eftb e Ui 18 (&)

UEoh - MERH - oL EREZEEES
RIBTYEHIARN - WEREZEEE HREAEZ

follows: BRECOMTIAT :
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FET
Neither past due nor impaired S 8 460 B AR A IR A 3,118 23
1 - 60 days past due EEA1 260K - -
61 — 90 days past due BEI61 290K - =
Over 90 days past due but less than one year BHIRBIBOKRERBIB—F 24 -
24 -
3,142 23

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related to
customer that had a good track record of credit with the Group.
Based on past credit history, management believe that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered
to be fully recoverable. The Group did not hold any collateral in respect

of trade receivables past due but not impaired.

REHTERE < BB ZIRIB S FOT &R
TRLER 2 F P

BMEERECBRKREZIRBESRAEEEGR
HEELHENEP - RIBAENERELS - &'
BERE R ERERTERLEEAES
BZEERDEE A 2ERD - BHARZ
SHEBAHERERE - AEETEAAEE
MEZ W E 5 IRIAR A (E R o

TEEMBEBENKZERAR 201145H 93



Notes to the Financial Statements
S i R B 5

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

25.

94

For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE"Z——FHUA=+THLFE

2. BERBEEEEEH

The Group The Company
REE ¥ YN
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF —E-—F —E-TF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FExT FHET
Cash and bank balances R R RIITHEER 37,959 162,499 3,400 151,062

Included in bank and cash balances of the Group is HK$24,826,000
(2010: HK$2,201,000) of bank balances denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB") placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible
currency. Under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sales and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for foreign currencies through banks that are authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

25.

As at 30 April 2011, ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice

date is as follows:

REEZRITEBRSERTRBEERNTEZ
RIOTIRARETAREDEZRITERES
#8£24,826,0008 7T (ZF—Z 4 : 2,201,000
BT o ARBIWIFRT BRI EY - RigH
B Atz SNEE B EDI R AAE - BERMNEE
BRE - AEEEEEBEREETINERY
ZIRITIE AR SR BN

e E 5 ARE
R-Z——FMA=+A  BEFRAWIE
PN B2 BRI AT -

2011 2010

—E——F —E—TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

0 - 30 days 0—30% 259 41
31 - 60 days 31—60X 63 55
Over 60 days but less than 1 year HBiB60KE LR —F 1,280 547
1,602 643

General credit terms granted by suppliers are 30 days to 60 days.

China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited Annual Report 2011
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26.

27.

28.

For the year ended 30 April 2011 #HE=-ZT——

FHA=+THLEFE

ACCRUED CHARGES AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. FEFTE AR HAE(SERIE

2011 2010
e —T-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Accrued charges and other payables (note (a)) ~ FE&TE A R E b RIE (A7) 29,284 38 362
Government assistances (note (b)) BT A (H b)) 24,750 2408
54,034 62,373

(@) Other payables are unsecured, interest free and repayable
on demand except for the amount of HK$9,826,000 (2010:
HK$13,633,000), which are interest bearing at the range of 5.5%
10 36% (2010: 5.5% to 36%) per annum.

(b) Government assistances represent payments granted by the
local governments in the PRC in relation to the research and
development of tissue engineering projects carried out in the PRC.
These payments will be recognised as income upon the approval
from the local government on the output of the relevant projects.

AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand except for the
amount of HK$339,000 (2010: HK$1,308,000), which are interest
bearing at the range of 5.5% (2010: 5.5% to 7.47%) per annum.
During the year, interest of HK$28,000 (2010: HK$139,000) was paid to
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 29 October 2008, the Company issued zero coupon convertible
bonds in the principal amount of HK$120,000,000 as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of FD(H) Investments Limited and
its subsidiaries. The convertible bonds did not bear interest and with
maturity date of two years from the date of issuance and were repayable
after two years from the date of issuance or convertible into shares of
the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.03 per share (subject to
the standard adjustment clauses relating to share sub-division, share
consolidation, capitalisation issues and rights issues) at any time after the
issue date.

27.

28.

(a) HtbEMEBEDAERKE £ RIEEX
B8 W—FEUFHENT55EE36E
(ZZ—ZT4 55EE36FE )R KA
9,826,000/ 7T ( —Z—Z 4 : 13,633,000
ST o

(b) BUTEBNEFEEMBARNPBETZ
ABTRRAEAMRALABEREZFUE - %
FHIRBRE HETEERE B &R
ROERTER BN

%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ#mﬁﬂﬁiﬁéﬁ
J]

FEAT BB A R FEIR AR IR SR A 25 S IE B B IR -
B RREREE(E—ERFHES5E (=
T—TF : NFS5EETATE)GTEZHRIEA
339,000/ 7L (=T —Z 4 : 1,308,000 L) K
HN) o A BRKTEBA R IEERA RS
F15.28,0008 7L (= —=Z4F : 139,000/ 7T) °

AR ES

RZZZENFTAZ+TNE  AREETAE
£8120,000,0008 T ZE R B ]AARES « 1E
AUEEFD (H) Investments Limited R B A
AREZ—# - AIRKRESF AR E - RET
HHARRRFREE - BANETABEMFR
BE R BITARBREARMIELRESR
0.03 8T (ZRBFRDIFA - ROEH - EXM
BT RMIRAB R 2 R RETRER) RN A A
BAp ©
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE_Z——FNMA=1THILFE

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Cont’'d)

96

At the date of issue, the convertible bonds were valued by Malcolm &
Associates Appraisal Limited. The fair value of the liability component of
the convertible bonds was based on the Discounted Cash Flow method.
These valuation techniques are based on the available observable market
data. The major inputs used in the models were as follows:

Principal amounts (HK$'000) ReFE(FHET)
Coupon rate ZmE AR

Risk free rate 4 2 B | =R
Credit spread FEEE
Effective interest rate BERAE

The fair value of the equity component of the convertible bonds was
based on the Binomial Option Pricing Model. These valuation techniques
are based on the available observable market data. The major inputs used
in the models were as follows:

Spot price REE
Exercise price TEE
Risk free rate 48 [\ [ 1|
Expected life TEER S
Volatility B

The convertible bonds recognised in the statement of financial position
were calculated as follows:

28. AR E S (&)

RE T HE - A AR & % B Malcolm &
Associates Appraisal Limited#1T{H{E » A #f%
BEHEZAEDDAFEDENERSREAM
TE o REHEFEDRE B AIBETSEIE M
E o ZERAZEBZHAEBLNT

120,000

0%
0.989%
8.477%
9.466%

AHRRES RS D 2 X FETYR —IBMEE
EBEAME - REMETENRREAUIBED
BEIBME - ZSEAZTBHABBWT ¢

HK$0.0360
HK$0.0300
0.989%

1 year
93.607%

RN AN K 2 ATHRRBIE H IR IA T I AR

RS

2009
—ETNF
HK$'000
FAET

Fair value of convertible bonds AIMRES 2 A FE

Equity component

144,053
(43,910)

Liability component on initial recognition HRERZBEBD

100,143
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HE—ZE——FNA=1THILFE

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Cont’'d) 28. AR E S ()
The liabilities components of the convertible bonds recognised in the BRRARRGEMBRAR CAIRRESRZ
consolidated and company statements of financial position are as BEISHIIAT
follows:
2011 2010
—B——F —TTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET
Balance at beginning of the year FHEEH 43,060 104,896
Conversion to shares of the Company (note 30) ¥R D E&5 (#13530) (44,237) (69,878)
Imputed interest expenses (note 7) SN SR (Mt7) 1,177 8,042
Balance at end of the year FREH - 43,060
Less: Current portion due within one year W FFARBBEE TR —FREEZ
included under current liabilities mEhE D - (43,060)
Non-current portion included under FFAERBEEZ
non-current liabilities FERENE D - -
Imputed interest expense on the convertible bonds is calculated using AR ES 2 EEF SR R ERFSELE
the effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate of ARBEID 2 BEREH®.466%:TH -

9.466% per annum to the liability component.
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE_Z——FNMA=1THILFE

29. DEFERRED TAXATION 29.

98

Deferred taxation is calculated on temporary differences under the
liability method using the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

The Group
The movement on the deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

Accelerated

EFERTH
BT IR R B A A AR B R AT R
BTHRIRER 2 EE -

REE
BERERIRBEZEBHMT

tax Fair value
depreciation adjustments Tax losses Total
MEBEFE ATERAER HIEEE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FET
At 1 May 2009 RZZEZNFRA—A 44 27,051 44) 27,051
(Credited)/Charged to profit or loss (Bt A)/EiKRE
for the year AEEFBR (44) (1,958) 44 (1,958)
At 30 April 2010 and 1 May 2010 RZE—ZTFMNA=+AK
—ZET-ZTFHA—H = 25,093 = 25,093
Credited to profit or loss for the year B it AKREEIEZ = (1,950) - (1,950)
At 30 April 2011 R-B——FMA=1+H - 23,143 = 23,143
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BE-ZT——FHA=tTHLFE

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. A
2011 2010
—E-—-f —T-%F
Number Number
of shares Amount of shares Amount
RAEE &8 RiHEE 28
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREMEOET AR
Authorised: EEBRA 10,000,000,000 100,000 | 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
At beginning of the year E) 5,476,880,000 54,769 | 2,480,880,000 24,809
Shares issued in placing arrangement (note (i) PECE ZHEE T 2 I (H732() - - 496,000,000 4,960
Conversion of convertible bond (note (i) HIRnaRES (A 0)) 1,500,000,000 15,000 | 2,500,000,000 25,000
Shares issued on exercise of share options RTEBEREMRETZ
(note (iii)) A2 (B i) 80,000,000 800 - -
At end of the year FR 7,056,880,000 70,569 | 5,476,880,000 54,769
Notes: MaE -

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

On 9 November 2009, pursuant to a placing agreement between the
Company and a placing agent, the Company issued an aggregate of
496,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.26
per share to independent third parties. The placement was completed on 26
November 2009.

During the year, the convertible bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of HK$45,000,000 (2010: HK$75,000,000) were converted into
1,500,000,000 (2010: 2,500,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at a
conversion price of HK$0.03 per share.

The increase in share capital represented the shares issued on exercise
of share options, granted under the Company’s share option scheme as
detailed in note 34 to the financial statements.

(if)

(iii)

RZZTAE+—ANE ' BEAARHEEERE
RN 2 BREWZ - ARRIEERRD0.26/8 T 2B
&ML 5 = 75 8174 $£496,000,000 % & A F &
0.01 BT ZHEBR - LEBER_TZNF+—A
—+NH5EK °

FR - NE4EEEA45,000,0008T(ZF—FTF
75,000,000 7T ) 2 A AR (& 1R T AR A& 15 0.03 7%
JL 2 B (B8 41,500,000,0000% (=T — T4 ¢
2,500,000,0008% ) AR EI1H0.01/8 7T 2 EiBAR ©

ABRAIEG IR ERRBITERIBEA R R BT 813
2 BEREM T 2R - RSN SmRME
34

TEEYBRBENKZERAR 2011F5H 99



Notes to the Financial Statements

B ERaR Mt

For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE"Z——FHUA=+THLFE

31. RESERVES 31. f#&fE
The Company AN
Convertible
bonds
Share equity  Translation Accumulated
premium reserves reserve losses Total
BIE: )3
BRIEE BEFEREFER E R G RitEE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FET THET
At 1 May 2009 RZZZNFHA—H 139,676 43,910 - (57,048) 126,538
Shares issued at premium RBBEITRG 124,000 - - - 124,000
Shares issue expense BITRAX (1,000) - - - (1,000)
Conversion of convertible bonds 3 a[# (&%

(note 28) (Hi7228) 72,322 (27,444) - — 44,878
Loss for the year FREE - - - (24,655) (24,655)
At 30 April 2010 RZZ-ZFWA=FH 334,998 16,466 - (81,703) 269,761
At 1 May 2010 R-ZE—ZFRA—H 334,998 16,466 - (81,703) 269,761
Exercise of share options TR AR 4,100 - - = 4,100
Conversion of convertible bonds 3 # AT (&5 (#1528)

(note 28) 45,703 (16,466) = = 29,237
Exchange gain on translation of &GN EHKBITERE 2

financial statements of foreign [ & Wiz

operations - - 5 - 5
Loss for the year FEREER - - - (13,848) (13,848)
At 30 April 2011 RZE——FMNA=+H 384,801 - 5 (95,551) 289,255
In accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share BIBEREHESREE  AREZRGEERRIT
premium account of the Company is also available for distribution to Al R TARER - HEARA RZER EREERIRE
shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its debts as they MEBSIKBHR - eANERER B EKR
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following the BB E R &S -

date on which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.
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32. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

33.

At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments payable

by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

32.

BE-ZT——FHA=tTHLFE

REREAE
Wi B AEERETIHHEEEER
AN 2 ARBIEBERELT -

The Group The Company
rEE AT
2011 2010 2011 2010
—B——fF —T-TF —2——fF —T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT THET FTHET FHET
Within one year —FR 4,359 2,981 3,819 2,737
In the second to fifth year inclusive ~ $£-Z=F1%F

(BEEEMF) 7,292 - 7,292 -
11,651 2,981 11,111 2,737

The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases. The
leases run for an initial period of one to three years. None of the leases
include contingent rentals.

The Company did not have any lease commitments as lessee or lessor as
at 30 April 2011.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 30 April 2011, the Group had capital expenditure commitments in
relation to the purchase of property, plant and equipment contracted
but not provided for, net of deposit paid, amounted to approximately
HK$34,662,000 (2010: HK$30,570,000).

At 30 April 2011, the Company had no capital commitments (2010: Nil).

33.

AEERBEEMEHRETYE - BEHEDN
NERM—E=F - WEHOBERFENEHR

WZZ——FMOA=+H ARALEEFE
MEEHEREEREEALLEA) -

BRERE

R-ZE——FMA=1+H  AEERBECH]
HERBE 2 - BEREEEHBRE R
&) 2 B AR T AIEL34,662,0008 T (=T —
Z4F : 30,570,000 7T) °

N—FB——FP =10 - AQFWEE RE
BT —TF )
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE—Z——FNMA=+THILFE

34. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company pursuant to
a resolution passed on 29 August 2002 (the “Scheme”). Under the
Scheme, the directors may grant options to (i) any eligible employee
(means any employee, whether full time or part time employee, including
any executive directors and non-executive directors) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries and any invested entity; (ii) any supplier of goods
or services to any member of the Group or any invested entity; (iii) any
customer of the Group or any invested entity; (iv) any person or entity
that provides research, development or technological support or other
services to the Group or any invested entity; and (v) any shareholder or
any member of the Group or any invested entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group to any invested entity
(collectively known as the “Participants”), to subscribe for shares in the
Company. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards
to the Participants thereunder for their contributions to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-caliber employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any invested
entity. The period of the Scheme shall not be more than ten years from
the date of adoption of the Scheme.

As at 30 April 2010, the number of shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding under the Scheme was
80,000,000 representing 1.46% of the shares of the Company in
issue at that date. As at 30 April 2011, there is no outstanding options
remained under the Scheme. The total number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the date
of the approval of the Scheme, unless approved by the Company’s
shareholders. In addition, the maximum number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 30% of the shares
of the Company in issue from time to time. The number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual in any 12
— month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors of the Company,
or any of their respective associates in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital and with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved by the Company’s shareholders.

102 China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited Annual Report 2011

34. LR XA 2 EEME

ARRRE-BER_ZZ_FNA\A-+NLAR
BORBERAIABBAEABI([FHE]]) - 1R
BEtE - BEFEAA TIATRBBREARE
ARRBRLD : (VARAF] -~ EEAME AR R
REERZEMEERREER EEA2BRE
‘S @ BREEMRITESIERITES) © ()@
REFBEFAKERRRERAREERBHRES
M RIS Z AR (i) A R E AR
EERZEMBER ¢ (v)AAEE R EFIHRE
EREHTAR  FAEARMEIEMRE 2
FEMALTHERE  ROAKREHLTAPMIKEE
8B EMBRIK B RAEBERRE QAR
ERMREERET2EMNER2EMBEA
(Rl 28EE]) - ZBNIEHSEHE
HAREEPTE BERMEL S sk 2@ K S fE
AEEFUAREREBEESER - LRAYHA
SEREMMREBERMEEEZANEIR °
FHEIH MR 8 B HIE S NS EB +F -

RZZ—ZTFMA=+H  REFEERH
mMERITEZEREMS R ZBROHEE B
80,000,0000% + 154N RIRA #% B HAE 31T %
2146% R-_ZT——FMA=1+H ' HER
BB 2 MARTTHEBRE - BRIFEBAARR
Rt - BIBFEIR FRE 2 BRES R 2K
DBEBTFHBARR RN ETEIE B BT
B&19 2 10% © Lo - RBETTER IR EIE H
i 18 AR T 2 B AR AR 1 AT F 81T 2 AN A IR 19
HE LR TEBBARARTEEEHTRGEZ
30% ° A 121E A MR A mE A A T
ZRERRESY K2 R BE TRBBAATNE
IR B BTN 2 1% ° WAA AT EZRRER
BB TESUAARSEEAZHEAR
7 BRAEBIBA A RIRAZ0.1% R EEBB
SHEET  RINEREAQRREHE



Notes to the Financial Statements
SRR M 5T

For the year ended 30 April 2011 HE—ZE——FWA=1THILFE

34. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

(Cont'd)

Options granted must be taken up within a period of 28 days from the
date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per grant. An option period to
be determined by the directors is at their absolute discretion shall not
be more than 10 years after the date of the grant of the share option
(“Option Period”). Options may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during the Option Period after the
option has been granted. The exercise price should not be less than (i)
the highest of the nominal value of the Company’s shares; (ii) the closing
price of the Company’s share on the date of grants, which must be a
trading day; or (iii) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s share options
held by the Participants and movements in such holdings during the
year:

34. LRI XS 2 REME (&)

P th 2 BB I s B 5 H B EE28 R B A
EEe - MBREMBRERABNUET -
BRESRDHEEERBBETE - HERRH
B B R AT TS B 104 ([ B A A
) o B BEER - BRETRBAERRE
PIRBREH B IETRBERS T IATTE © TTEENSE
RUAT=FZ&SE  ()VARRRRMHEE : (i)
ARABRBROREL AR (WAERRSH) 2T
B 5 (i) AR B R ERX L AR RER
ZH 2 FIWHE -

TREESEEMFARRBREZFIERE
BT BRE R A FE 2 &

Outstanding at Exercised

1 May 2009 during the
and yearended Outstanding at
Exercise price 30 April 2010 30 April 2011 30 April 2011

R-ZBRF

RA-H REZ
R=Z-2F —2—-F R=B—-F
MA=+H MA=+A MA=+H
THE HATE —LEFERETE i RAT B
In aggregate A 0.0613 80,000,000 (80,000,000) =

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

Exercise price Date of grant
TEEE RHBE#

FrE BRI 2 R

Exercise period
TEEHIA

HK$ 0.0613 29 August 2002

—EE-FN\A=1+hAH

The options vested on the date of grant.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in equity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the
options other than by issuing its shares.

The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company
guoted on the Stock Exchange immediately before the dates on which
the options were exercised was HK$0.27.

29 August 2002 to 28 August 2012
ZET-F A TNAREZZT—=—FNAZF+N\H

BIEE R A RS -

FIB ARG A 2 R B 2 i BRSNS « &
SERRBITRMIN  BMEEAEHEERBEL
S S EBAHE -

ARRFRMNBRBRRITE 2 B AR ERR
PR P2 Nt (B R0.27 8 7T ©
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

Notes to the Financial Statements
S R B 5

For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE T FHUA=+THLFE

35. RERERERME

Disposals of subsidiaries HEHE AT
2010
—E-TF
HK$'000
FHET
Net liabilities disposed of: HEFaE:
Property, plant and equipment M - BE RS 2,926
Land use rights and operating lease prepayments T fE AR RS LT E BN TR 3,539
Trade receivables W E 5 8R1E 4,338
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Be - FARRIE R E MK ARIA 3:3¢8
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss FRIBRRATEIRZMBEE 7,900
Cash and cash equivalents RekReSHEEE 6,343
Accrued charges and other payables FEFH B A R A RS BRIE (83,107)
Bank loan (secured) RITER(HER) (3,359)
Taxation payable FEfI I8 (61)
(58,108)
Amount due from subsidiaries assigned e EM B AR 2 5KIE 75,682
Release of translation reserve upon disposals HERBLIIRE 235
Loss on disposals of subsidiaries LEMBARZEE (1,954)
Total consideration HARE 15,855
Satisfied by cash PSEES AN} 15,855
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of FRALEMBAR R RRSFEERRA
the disposals of subsidiaries is as follows: FRZDHIT

2010
T -TF
HK$'000
FHT

Cash consideration received
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

BUIREHKE
BEHERE LIRS FEEAR

15,855
(6,343)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

R MRS SEERRAFHE

9,512
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36.

37.

For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE-ZT——FHA=tTHLFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. BEALTRS
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEAEMSE
The key management personnel of the Group are the directors of AEEZTEERBABAMARAES - FEE
the Company. The remuneration of the key management personnel BABZMEe N BEFMEESREEINALZ
is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to FRERMGBEET - XN TFHRECHESFHE
the performance of individuals and market trends. Details of the BN s e
remuneration paid to them are set out in note 9 to the financial
statements.
SUBSIDIARIES 37. BT
Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 30 April 2011 RIE——FWA=+H ' ARRIZEEWNE
are as follows: NEIFENT
Nominal value
of issued Proportion of
Place of ordinary capital/ nominal value of
incorporation/ Kind of registered issued capital held by Principal activities and
Name of company registration legal entity capital the Company place of operations
NRER ERAL/ Tt HEERER BRTZER RARREERT TEXBRERLE
BA/AMEREE BAEELS
Directly Indirectly
E# i
BM Intelligence Limited British Virgin Islands Limited liability company US$20,000 100% - Investment holding,
HRRAES ARELAR 20,000E 7T Hong Kong
REER - &8
Full Century International Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited liability company HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding,
BTERERAR B BREFLF 17T Hong Kong
RERR  BE
Million Profit Group Limited British Virgin Islands Limited liability company US$1 - 100%  Investment holding,
RBRNAE BREFLE 137 Hong Kong
REER  BE
FD(H) Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Limited liability company Us$100 - 100%  Investment holding,
HRRAEE ARELAR 100E7T Hong Kong
REER - &8
Shaanxi Aierfu Activtissue the PRC Foreign Investment RMB116,900,000 - 87.7%  Production and sales of
Engineering Company Limited & Enterprise AK116,900,0007 tissue engineering skin
DA REEETRER AR MERE related products, the PRC
EERSEEMTRRER
BEm
Shaanxi Aimeiya Bio-Technology  the PRC Foreign Investment RMB2,000,000 - 44.7%*  Research and development,
Company Limited # Enterprise AR2,000,0007T the PRC
RELERERRERAA MERE MERFAE - E

TEEMBEBENKZERARA 2011458

105



37. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Notes to the Financial Statements
S R B 5

For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE=ZT——FMNA=+HILFE

37. B R (%)

Nominal value
of issued Proportion of
Place of ordinary capital/ nominal value of
incorporation/ Kind of registered issued capital held by Principal activities and
Name of company registration legal entity capital the Company place of operations
NRER HERAL/ E LS EERRER BETLER RARRRERT TRERREELE
BE/HMEAEE BAmELA
Directly Indirectly
Ei GE3
Shaanxi AiBosin Bio-Engineering  the PRC Foreign Investment RMB2,000,000 - 44.7%*  Research and development,
Company Limited H Enterprise AK#2,000,0007T the PRC
REL AN TRER AR MERE WERFAE - PE
Shaanxi AiNear Cornea Engineering the PRC Foreign Investment RMB3,800,000 - 44.7%*  Research and development,
Company Limited & Enterprise AR 3,800,0007C the PRC
RAENAEARIRERAR MERE WERRAE « PE
RADELEIZHRERNGF  the PRC Foreign Investment RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Sales and distribution,
i Enterprise AR30,000,0007 the PRC
NERE HERAH  PE
Note: Wit -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the
directors, principally affected the results of the Group for the year or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group at the end of the year. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

* 51% of equity interests of these companies were held by Shannxi Aierfu
and therefore, they are considered as subsidiaries of the Group by virtue of
the Company’s control over it.

On 15 July 2010, FD(H) Investments Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a capital increase agreement with non-
controlling interests of Shaanxi Aierfu Activitissue Engineering Company
Limited (“Shaanxi Aierfu”), in which Shaanxi Aierfu increased the
share capital from RMB29,400,000 to RMB116,900,000. The full
amount of the capital increase was contributed by the Group, being
RMB87,500,000 in cash. Upon the completion of the capital increase,
the equity interest of the Group increased from 51% to approximately
87.7%. The capital increase was completed on 17 September 2010.
These transactions resulted in an adjustment on deemed acquisition of
non-controlling interests of HK$33,169,000, which is included in “other
reserve” in the equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 30 April 2011 HZE—ZT——FMHA=1THILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. IR MERE

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include market risk (including currency risk,
interest risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group does not have written risk management policies and
guidelines. However, the board of directors meets periodically to analyse
and formulate strategies to manage and monitor the Group’s exposure
to a variety of risks associated with financial instruments which arise
from the Group’s operating and investing activities. Generally, the
Group employs conservative strategies regarding its risk management to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to these risks are mitigated are described as follows:

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group carries out its business mainly in Hong Kong and the
PRC and most of the transactions are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and RMB. The Group's assets and liabilities are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB. The Group had
neither engaged in any derivative activities nor committed to any
financial instruments to hedge its exposures. The directors consider
the Group's foreign exchange risk to be minimal. A reasonable
change in exchange rate in the next twelve months is assessed to
result in immaterial change in the Group’s loss for the year and
accumulated losses. Changes in exchange rates have no impact on
the Group's other components of equity.

(b) Interest rate risk

Financial assets and liabilities at variable interest rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and those at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group monitors
the interest rate risk exposure on a continuous basis and adjusts
the portfolio of financial assets and liabilities when necessary. A
reasonable change in interest rate in the next twelve months is
assessed to result in immaterial change in the Group’s loss for the
year and accumulated losses. Changes in interest rates have no
impact on the Group’s other components of equity.

AEEFBNAEZEBRREKRETEHTF
BB T AMES M KRR - BERREET
SRR (BEEERR - FXERREMERR
®)  FERBERBHESRER

REBEWEFIFTR X 2 ARERBEKIES| -
A EESEHARSBETONLHIER
B - AEE R EEAEEMAR TR ER R
AEERENREXBELEZEMTA - —
ME - AEEHREREERARTERE - AR
RENRFAYRAVEE SR - BZELHMTA
R B8 2 [ B anqAn i D bt S5 L i 2 TSR & 51 an
T

(a) INERER
REBFEREBRPEETER - K3
ARGEUUBTRAREE - ZEBZ
BERBBEBUBTRAREE - &~
EEWESEEAITE RS S FER TR
FT AP EHER - EFRANEE TR
2 ZINERBRARM o BAARR+ =18 A F=
2 EBREHWT EHAKE 2 N FEEEE
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B HA AR LM -

(b) FIRE
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B ERaR Mot

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
(c) Credit risk

For the year ended 30 April 2011

BE-Z——FHUA=+THLFE

38. BiH5/E b E I (M)

(c)

The Group’s maximum credit exposure of the financial assets as
at 30 April 2011 equals to their carrying amounts. The Group’s
financial assets are summarised in note (f) below. The Group's trade
and other receivables are actively monitored to avoid significant
concentrations of credit risk. The Group limits its exposure to credit
risk by prudently selecting its customers with careful assessment of

their credit worthiness and financial background.

The Group has deposited its cash with various banks. The credit
risk on cash and bank balances is limited because most of the
Group's bank deposits are deposited with major banks in Hong

Kong and the PRC.

Fair value

(d)

(d)

The directors of the Company consider the fair values of the
Group's current financial assets and liabilities are not materially
different from their carrying amounts because of the immediate or

short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

(e) Liquidity risk

(e)

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The Group has
net current assets of HK$36,957,000 (2010: HK$49,256,000) and
net assets of HK$418,662,000 (2010: HK$414,056,000) as at 30
April 2011. In the opinion of the directors, the Group’s exposure to

liquidity risk is limit.
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RIS R R MR

For the year ended 30 April 2011

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(e) Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities at
each of the reporting dates of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payment computed using contractual rates or,
if floating, based on current rates at the reporting date) and the

BE-ZT——FHA=tHLFE

B EEREE (&)

(e)

RBES R (&)

TRATIARBEITEMBABRERE

BHEIZ ™

BMAMBIHER - ZRIIRIET

HARBRR SR E (RIFRFTOMERHKCE

8) IR E B 8 2 BNEIR =

KFHEZ

MEXH) RAEEARANRZ&FER

earliest date the Group may be required to pay: HiRE -
Total More than
contractual Within 3 months but
Carrying undiscounted 3 months less than
amount cash flow or on demand 1year
HESES3:3) R=EAR BBE=@EA
IREE HERELET HEER BR—FR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT FHET FET
The Group AEH
As at 30 April 2011 —E——FmA=+A
Trade payables ,mﬁf’f%ﬁﬁlﬁ 1,602 1,602 1,602 -
Accrued charges and other payables  fEx+E B M H At fEERIE 29,284 29,284 29,284 —
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTB BB R FEHE AR AR 3R
interests of subsidiaries T FIA 20,344 20,344 20,344 -
51,230 51,230 51,230 -
As at 30 April 2010 R-Z-—ZFWMA=1H
Trade payables FEfHE S8RE 643 643 643 -
Accrued charges and other payables  fExt& A M E A B ERTE 38,362 38,362 38,362 -
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTBT B A B IR AR B
interests of subsidiaries ¢g SERIH 19,280 19,280 19,280 -
Convertible bonds AR ES 43,060 45,000 - 45,000
101,345 103,285 58,285 45,000
The Company PN
As at 30 April 2011 —Z——FMA=+H
Accrued charges and other payables ,maf;%ﬁ REMERERIE 1,165 1,165 1,165 -
Amount due to a subsidiary N —RMBATZIE 13,378 13,378 13,378 -
14,543 14,543 14,543 =
As at 30 April 2010 R-Z—ZFMA=1H
Accrued charges and other payables &zt & & E A fEERIE 1,708 1,708 1,708 -
Amount due to a subsidiary B —RK B A RZE 13,383 13,383 13,383 -
Convertible bonds Al AR ES 43,060 45,000 - 45,000
58,151 60,091 15,091 45,000
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For the year ended 30 April 2011

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

BE-Z——FHUA=+THLFE

38. BiH5E b E I (M)

(f) Categories of financial assets and liabilities () PEMBEERAGEHE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities AEENREBHERR L MBEEERE
as recognised at the reporting dates are categorised as follows. See BEREER NSNS - MBETESE
notes 2.9 and 2.12 for explanations about how the categorisation W B EH 1R 2 5T 2 2 RAE NI EE2.9
of financial instruments affects their subsequent measurements. K212
The Group The Company
EE N
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——fF| ZT-ITF| ZB——F | ZT-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET T FHET
Financial assets MEEE
Current assets REBEE
Loans and receivables: BERREWRERIA
Trade receivables UL E 58R1E 3,142 23 - =
Deposits and other receivables Be RHEA R
iR1E 71,359 11,321 - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE LB N B FOE - - 370,596 231,326
Cash and cash equivalents HehIREZEIER 37,959 162,499 3,400 151,062
112,460 173,843 373,996 382,388
Financial liabilities g 3 =R
Financial liabilities measured at A SRR ARG T B 2
amortised costs: B aE :
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables BB SERIE 1,602 643 - -
Accrued charges and FEEtE AR HM
other payables FERTBRIE 29,284 38,362 1,165 1,708
Amount due to a subsidiary FEN —RKH B A TR IE - = 13,378 13,383
Amounts due to non-controlling  FESFHIE A B FEIER%
interests of subsidiaries ISR e 5 2 IR 20,344 19,280 - =
Convertible bonds AR E S - 43,060 - 43,060
51,230 101,345 14,543 58,151
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39.

40.

For the year ended 30 April 2011

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND
PROCEDURES

The Group's objectives when managing capital are:

e  To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it continues to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders;

e To support the Group's stability and growth; and

e  To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group’s
risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder returns,
taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the Group
and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected
operating cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected
strategic investment opportunities. The Group has not adopted any
formal dividend policy.

Management regards total equity as capital, for capital management
purpose. The amount of capital as at 30 April 2010 and 2011 amounted
to approximately HK$414,056,000 and HK$418,662,000 respectively,
which the management considers as optimal having considered the
projected capital expenditures and the projected strategic investment
opportunities.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 31 May 2011, Shaanxi AiNear Cornea Engineering Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, entered into the share transfer
agreements with an independent third party and the close relative of
Mr. Yang Zheng Guo, a director of the Company (collectively refer to as
the “Vendors”) to acquire 100% of equity interests in Shenzhen AiNear
Cornea Engineering Company Limited at the total consideration of
HK$2,380,000. Because the acquisition was completed close to the date
of approval of these financial statements, it is not practicable to disclose
further details in relation to the acquisition as at the date of the approval
of these financial statements.

39.

40.

BE-ZT——FHA=tHLFE

EXEERERERER
AEBERAKXZ BB

o REAKERFELE 28  HEBERBR
ORER N AEMA D FA AR

o MRAKBIZRBENER R

o RHESAMBAEEZREREIEES o

AEEEMBERERNT NEREARE  BRA
BREBARBLREHEERROR - LEE
REEBRKRESFERERNKY - B RIEH
BN  BRAKZERERE  WUEAFRX
RIBRIRAS IR ER S - NEE B AL EERER
ERERBREBE °

EEEREBARSEREEZER - R-_T—
ZERZT-——FMA=1+H  BXLEHH
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Financial Summary
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Financial year ended 30 April
BENA=THZHBREE
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—FTRLE —FTFTN\F —FETNF —T-TF | ZB——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAT FAET FET FERT
Revenue e 64,952 88,760 44,143 11,039 2,621
Cost of services provided EIRRHARTS 2 AR (50,492) (65,543) (32,191) (5,294) (933)
Gross profit EF 14,460 23,217 11,952 5,745 1,688
Other income E AU 1,273 1,986 16,213 240 2,911
Gain/(Loss) on disposals of HERBARZ
subsidiaries Wz (E518) - - 2,967 (1,954) -
Administrative and operating TR B ERY
expenses (20,900) (37,387) (57,104) (76,489) (54,528)
Operating loss gy S (5,167) (12,184) (25,972) (72,458) (49,929)
Finance costs % E R (105) (199) (6,743) (10,833) (2,592)
Gain/(Loss) on disposals of HEREBEE N B
interests in associates Wz (E18) - = 45,650 (32) -
Share of results of associates i/ e 4,412 9,143 1,701 = -
(Loss)/Profit before income tax BAT SR AT (EE)
gl (860) (3,240) 14,636 (83,323) (52,521)
Income tax credit/(expense) FiEfREe,(BHx) 486 (217) (1,065) 3,958 1,950
(Loss)/Profit for the year REE(EE),%5F (374) (3,457) 13,571 (79,365) (50,571)
Attributable to: T 5 FE4f -
Owners of the Company PN/NGIEZS N (365) (3,446) 21,092 (64,569) (42,061)
Non-controlling interests PR AR R (9) (11) (7,521) (14,796) (8,510)
(Loss)/Profit for the year TEE(ER),EF (374) (3,457) 13,571 (79,365) (50,571)
As at 30 April
ROUA=+H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—TTF —TE)N\F ZTTNNEF —T-TF | ZB——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FAT FAT FHET FET
Total assets BEE 51,313 73,993 500,078 564,505 517,785
Total liabilities SR (14,317) (21,173) (204,679) (150,449) (99,123)
Shareholders’ funds BREES 36,996 52,820 295,399 414,056 418,662
Notes: Kt -

The financial summary does not form part of the financial statements.
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